

Souriau's Relativistic general covariant formulation of hyperelasticity revisited

Boris Kolev, Rodrigue Desmorat

▶ To cite this version:

Boris Kolev, Rodrigue Desmorat. Souriau's Relativistic general covariant formulation of hyperelasticity revisited. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids, inPress, pp.105463. 10.1016/j.jmps.2023.105463. hal-03861444v2

HAL Id: hal-03861444 https://hal.science/hal-03861444v2

Submitted on 17 Jan2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

SOURIAU'S RELATIVISTIC GENERAL COVARIANT FORMULATION OF HYPERELASTICITY REVISITED

B. KOLEV AND R. DESMORAT

ABSTRACT. We present and modernize Souriau's 1958 geometric framework for Relativistic continuous media, and enlighten the necessary and the *ad hoc* modeling choices made since, focusing as much as possible on the Continuum Mechanics point of view. We describe the general covariant formulation of Hyperelasticity in (Variational) General Relativity, and then in the particular case of a static spacetime. Different relativistic strain and stress tensors are formulated and discussed. Finally, we apply Souriau's formalism to Schwarzschild's metric, and recover the Classical Galilean Hyperelasticity with gravity, as the Newton–Cartan infinite light speed limit of this formulation.

CONTENTS

Introduction	1
1. Matter field, current of matter and conformation	3
2. Conservation of matter	5
3. Conformation and strains	7
4. Lagrangian formulation	9
5. The stress–energy tensor	13
6. Universe's foliation by spacelike hypersurfaces	16
7. Matter field in a spacetime – Generalized Lorentz factor	17
8. Relativistic stress tensors and constitutive laws in a spacetime	19
9. Relativistic Hyperelasticity in Schwarzschild spacetime	21
10. The Galilean limit of Relativistic Hyperelasticity	24
11. Conclusion	29
Appendix A. Orthogonal decomposition of four-dimensional 2nd-order tensors	30
Appendix B. Schwarzschild spacetime	31
Appendix C. Divergences in a static spacetime	31
Appendix D. Three-dimensional Riemannian metrics and mass densities	32
Appendix E. Choice of a reference metric	35
Appendix F. Three-dimensional strains	36
Appendix G. Three-dimensional stresses	36
References	37

INTRODUCTION

Attempts to formulate *Relativistic Elasticity* in the *General Relativity* framework go back to 1916 with the pioneering work of Nordström [68], in Dutch. Since then, several authors have first aimed at proposing constitutive equations for Relativistic fluids [87, 54, 14, 60] and, then, at modeling Relativistic continuous media, most often at the astrophysics scale [80, 86, 19, 74,

Date: January 17, 2023.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 74B20, 70G45, 83C10, 83C25.

Key words and phrases. Constitutive equations, Relativistic Hyperelasticity, Lagrangian formulation of General Relativity, Newton-Cartan theory of Continuum Mechanics.

82, 5, 70, 50, 43, 44, 4, 27, 90, 36, 10], for instance for the modeling of the solid crust of neutron stars, but also at a local scale [57, 58, 59, 72, 72, 73, 63], for mechanical engineering applications.

This has led Lichnerowicz to define *pure matter* [54], synonymous of dust, and Souriau to define *perfect matter* [80, 81, 82], as a continuous medium which can be described independently from electromagnetic phenomena. In the present work, we follow Souriau and model perfect matter with the *Gauge Theory* mindset [9]. More precisely, we focus on Relativistic hyperelastic continuous media. We do not consider the coupling with electromagnetism, nor with temperature.

The work of Souriau (1958, in French), seems to have been unnoticed by the scientific community. It is prior to the works of Synge (1959), of DeWitt (1962) and of Rayner (1963) (all three criticized in the later papers by Bennoun [5] and Carter and Quintana [14]). As we shall see, Souriau did in fact formulate the correct framework to describe Relativistic Hyperelasticity, first in his long 1958 paper [80], then in his 1964 book [82] (in French still). The modern geometric picture of the General Relativity framework for elastic media is, up to details that we shall discuss on the go, derived in [80, 82], and later in [14, 43, 44, 4].

We stick to the chronology introduced by Souriau of the mathematical concepts, the idea being as often to make the least hypotheses as possible. This is why the introduction of a *foliation by spacelike hypersurfaces* —which is not assumed a *priori*— is only addressed in section 6, and why the problems of the *definition of time* and of the formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity in a *spacetime* is addressed only in section 8. We finally apply Künzle's methodology [49], to mathematically recover Classical Galilean Hyperelasticity with gravity, as the Newton–Cartan infinite light speed limit of the described General Relativity formulation. Our calculations generalize the ones for relativistic fluids to relativistic solids.

We write this paper mainly with the mechanics — not the astrophysics— point of view. We seek for the adequacy with the geometric formulation on the body \mathscr{B} of three-dimensional Hyperelasticity (the so-called *intrinsic Lagrangian formulation*, developed by Noll [65, 67] and Rougée [75, 77], see also [45, 46]). The notations are chosen to be compatible with both the ones used classically in Continuum Mechanics of solid materials [51] and the ones considered in [45, 46].

Outline. The article is organized as follows. In section 1, we introduce the basic concepts of matter field Ψ , of body World tube \mathcal{W} , of mass measure μ , and of current of matter **P**, which are the starting point of the theory of Relativistic Continuum Mechanics. The normalization of the later allows to define the rest mass density ρ_r and the unit timelike vector **U**. The section ends with the definition of the *conformation* **H**, the cornerstone of Souriau's general covariant formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity. Matter conservation is formulated in section 2. Definitions of relativistic strain tensors are provided in section 3. Relativistic Hyperelasticity is formulated in section 4, in which the Lagrangian formulation of General Relativity is recalled and applied to this specific constitutive modeling. The stress-energy tensor is introduced in section 5 and both four-dimensional and three-dimensional relativistic stress tensors are defined. It is only in section 6 that a spacetime structure is considered, allowing to better connect the preceding general geometric framework with Classical Continuum Mechanics, and to define the generalized Lorentz factor γ (section 7). This factor accounts for the distortion between the unit vector U (the matter) and the unit normal N to the spacelike hypersurfaces Ω_t (the observer), and allows for the geometric definition of the *relativistic mass density* ρ . A first formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity in a static spacetime, including the generalization of the *Cauchy stress tensor*, is derived in section 8. This framework is detailed in section 9 for the particular case of the Schwarzschild metric. The Galilean (Newton–Cartan) infinite light speed limit of the theory is discussed in section 10.

Notations. Given a linear operator $L: E \to F$ between two finite dimensional vector spaces, we denote by $L^*: F^* \to E^*, \beta \mapsto \beta \circ L$, its *transpose*. If moreover, the vector space E is equipped with an inner product q_E , and F, with an inner product q_F , we can define its *adjoint*, defined implicitly by the relation $\overline{L}: F \to E$, $\langle Lv, w \rangle_F = \langle v, \overline{L}w \rangle_E$ for all $v \in E$ and $w \in F$. The relation between L^* and \overline{L} is thus written as $\overline{L} = q_E^{-1} L^* q_F$. We denote by $\mathbb{S}^k E$ the set of totally symmetric tensors of order k on E and by $\Lambda^k E$ the set of alternate tensors of order k on E.

Now, let \mathscr{M} be a differential manifold of dimension n, we denote by $\Omega^k(\mathscr{M})$, the set of differential k-forms on \mathscr{M} , that is smooth sections of the vector bundle $\Lambda^k T^* \mathscr{M}$. The contraction $i_X \alpha$, of components $(i_X \alpha)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{k-1}} = X^{\nu} \alpha_{\nu \mu_1 \dots \mu_{k-1}}$, denotes the *interior product* of a vector field $X \in \operatorname{Vect}(\mathscr{M})$ with a k-form $\alpha \in \Omega^k(\mathscr{M})$,

$$i_X \alpha := \alpha(X, \cdot, \dots, \cdot) \in \Omega^{k-1}(\mathscr{M}).$$

If moreover, \mathscr{M} is endowed with a Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian metric g (and \mathscr{M} is orientable), we will denote by $\operatorname{vol}_g \in \Omega^n(\mathscr{M})$ the (pseudo-)Riemannian volume form associated with g.

Given a 1-form $\alpha \in \Omega^1(\mathscr{M})$, the notation $\alpha^{\sharp} := g^{-1}\alpha \in \operatorname{Vect}(\mathscr{M})$ stands for $\alpha^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu}\alpha_{\nu}$. Conversely, given a vector field $X \in \operatorname{Vect}(\mathscr{M})$, $X^{\flat} := gX \in \Omega^1(\mathscr{M})$ stands for $X_{\mu} = g_{\mu\nu}X^{\nu}$. When local coordinates are involved on a 4-dimensional manifold, the Greek subscripts or superscripts $\mu, \nu, \rho \dots$ range from 0 to 3, while the roman ones $i, j, k \dots$, or I, J, K, \dots range from 1 to 3.

The light speed will be denoted by c and we refer to the Galilean three-dimensional Continuum Mechanics of solids [89, 51, 55] simply as *Classical Continuum Mechanics*.

1. MATTER FIELD, CURRENT OF MATTER AND CONFORMATION

The Universe is assumed to be a four-dimensional orientable manifold \mathcal{M} , endowed with an hyperbolic metric g, of signature (-, +, +, +). Its pseudo-Riemannian volume form is denoted by

$$\operatorname{vol}_q \in \Omega^4(\mathscr{M}).$$

In the present work we limit our study to a (non electromagnetic) continuous particles assembly, the so-called *perfect matter* [54]. Its modeling adopted by Souriau in [80, 81, 82] is inspired by Gauge theory [9], where *matter fields* are described by sections of an *associated bundle*, *i.e.*, some vector bundle constructed using a linear representation of the *structural group* of the considered Gauge theory on some given vector space. The specificity and relative simplicity of the present description of *perfect matter* is, however, that we assume this linear representation, and thus the vector bundle, to be trivial. More precisely, we let V be a three-dimensional vector space (taken as \mathbb{R}^3 in [80]). A *perfect matter field* (called the particles labelling in [80], and the *projection*, noted \mathscr{P} , in [14]) is then a smooth vector valued function

$$\Psi: \mathscr{M} \to V.$$

Remark 1.1. The notation Ψ for the matter field is on purpose chosen similar to the one for the wave function in Quantum Mechanics.

Matter is then described by the set of all the material points constitutive of the continuous medium under study in the Universe (for example a mechanical structure). Their labels constitute a set $\mathscr{B} \subset V$, assumed to be (in general) a three-dimensional compact orientable manifold with boundary and called the *body*. It is further assumed that Ψ is a *submersion* on $\mathscr{W} = \Psi^{-1}(\mathscr{B})$: the linear tangent map $T\Psi : T\mathscr{W} \to TV$ is of rank 3 at each point of \mathscr{W} . Thus, \mathscr{W} is fibered by the particles World lines $\Psi^{-1}(\mathbf{X}), \mathbf{X} \in \mathscr{B}$, and is called for this reason the *body's World tube*.

The body \mathscr{B} is endowed with a volume form $\mu \in \Omega^3(\mathscr{B})$, the mass measure, which carries the information about the distribution of matter present in \mathscr{W} [43]. This interpretation is connected with the three-dimensional Classical Continuum Mechanics theory, in which the abstract manifold \mathscr{B} , equipped with the mass measure μ , is in fact the *body* introduced by Truesdell and Noll [89, 65, 66, 67].

As we seek for a full consistency with the geometric framework of Classical Continuum Mechanics [67, 75, 77, 45], we have to emphasize a slight difference with previous works in astrophysics concerning the choice of the volume form on \mathscr{B} . In [80], V is equipped with the canonical



FIGURE 1. The World tube $\mathscr{W} = \Psi^{-1}(\mathscr{B})$ fibered by the particles World lines $\Psi^{-1}(\mathbf{X})$.

3-form $\operatorname{vol}_q = \mathrm{d}X^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}X^2 \wedge \mathrm{d}X^3$ on \mathbb{R}^3 . In [14, 4, 36], the body \mathscr{B} is equipped with a volume form $\Omega \in \Omega^3(\mathscr{B})$ which represents the number density of conserved idealized particles (meant to be identified with the baryon number density in [14]). The three of them are, of course, proportional to each other on \mathscr{B} . As pointed out by Carter and Quintana, the Relativistic Hyperelasticity theory does not depend on the particular choice of a volume form on \mathscr{B} [14]. Our choice, here, of a volume form μ , interpreted as a "mass measure" allows us to recover the mass densities encountered in Classical Continuum Mechanics, and to assimilate the integral

$$m = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \mu,$$

as the total mass of the continuous medium/mechanical structure under study.

Remark 1.2. It is worth mentioning that one takes here a point of view reverse to the one of Classical Continuum Mechanics of solids [89, 51, 75, 55, 77], in which a configuration is an embedding $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{E}$ of the body \mathscr{B} into the three-dimensional space \mathscr{E} , endowed with the Euclidean metric q. In the present formalism, the main concept is a mapping $\Psi: \mathscr{M} \to V$ from the Universe \mathscr{M} to the space of labels V. A key difference is that, in Classical Continuum Mechanics, p and its tangent map, the so-called *deformation gradient*

$$\mathbf{F} = Tp \colon T\mathscr{B} \to T\mathscr{E}$$

are invertible, whereas here, the matter field Ψ and its tangent map $T\Psi$ are not.

The pullback by Ψ of the mass measure μ on the body \mathscr{B}

$$\omega := \Psi^* \mu = (\mu \circ \Psi)(T\Psi, T\Psi, T\Psi)$$

is a 3-form defined on the four-dimensional World tube $\mathscr{W} = \Psi^{-1}(\mathscr{B})$. Since $T_m \Psi$ is assumed to be of rank 3 at each point of \mathscr{W} , there exists a *nowhere vanishing* vector field **P** on \mathscr{W} , such that

(1.1)
$$\omega = i_{\mathbf{P}} \mathrm{vol}_g,$$

where $i_{\mathbf{P}}$ is the interior product (or contraction) of ω by **P**. This vector field **P** is the *current* of matter (it was called vecteur courant de matière in [80]).

Remark 1.3. In 3D Classical Continuum Mechanics, the pushforward of the mass measure μ by the embedding $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{E}$ [45], when expressed using the 3D volume form vol_q , is represented by a scalar density ρ (indeed, $p_*\mu = \rho \operatorname{vol}_q$). In 4D, the pullback of the mass measure μ by the matter field Ψ , when expressed using the 4D volume form vol_g , is represented by the quadrivector **P** (indeed, $\Psi^*\mu = i_{\mathbf{P}}\operatorname{vol}_q$). At each point $m \in \mathcal{W}$, the tangent vector $\mathbf{P}(m)$ spans the one-dimensional subspace ker $T_m \Psi$. Indeed, the equality

$$\mu_{\Psi(m)}(T_m\Psi.\mathbf{P}, T_m\Psi.\xi_1, T_m\Psi.\xi_2) = \operatorname{vol}_{g_m}(\mathbf{P}(m), \mathbf{P}(m), \xi_1, \xi_2) = 0, \quad \forall \xi_1, \xi_2 \in T_m\mathscr{W},$$

implies

(1.2)
$$T_m \Psi. \mathbf{P}(m) = 0,$$

since $T_m \Psi$ is surjective. To describe perfect matter, Souriau assumes furthermore that **P** is timelike, *i.e.* that

$$\left\|\mathbf{P}\right\|_{q}^{2} = g(\mathbf{P}, \mathbf{P}) < 0$$

on the World tube \mathscr{W} (we refer to [82] for the other cases, light for instance). Observe that **P** defines a time orientation on \mathscr{W} .

It will be proved as essential to define a unit timelike vector field \mathbf{U} collinear to \mathbf{P} , and to write

(1.3)
$$\mathbf{P} = \rho_r \mathbf{U}, \quad \text{with} \quad \|\mathbf{U}\|_g^2 = -1.$$

The function

(1.4)
$$\rho_r := \sqrt{-\left\|\mathbf{P}\right\|_g^2},$$

defined on the World tube \mathcal{W} , is then interpreted as the rest mass density [80, 82, 43].

Remark 1.4. In Special Relativity, the vector field $c\mathbf{P}$ is the four-momentum quadrivector.

We will finish this section by defining the *conformation*, a fundamental concept introduced by Souriau in 1958. It is the cornerstone of the formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity at large scale, in particular, for the modeling of neutron stars with a solid crust. In recent works, it is sometimes referred to as *strain*, but since *this term* has a slightly different meaning in Classical Continuum Mechanics, we prefer to keep the initial name given by Souriau. The conformation is defined as the vector-valued function [80]

(1.5)
$$\mathbf{H}: \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{S}^2 V, \qquad m \mapsto \mathbf{H}(m) := (T_m \Psi) g_m^{-1} (T_m \Psi)^*$$

where $\mathbb{S}^2 V$ is the six-dimensional vector space of symmetric contravariant second-order tensors on V. In simpler words, **H** is a function from the four-dimensional manifold \mathscr{M} to the vector space of 3×3 matrices. The hypothesis we made that Ψ is a submersion on \mathscr{W} , together with the hypothesis that ker $T\Psi$ is generated by the timelike vector field **U** implies that $\mathbf{H}(m)$ is positive definite for all $m \in \mathscr{W}$.

Remark 1.5. Since the mapping $\Psi : \mathscr{W} \to \mathscr{B}$ is not invertible, the conformation cannot be considered, stricto sensu, as the pushforward of g^{-1} , which is not defined. It is thus not, strictly speaking, a co-metric on \mathscr{B} , but a vector-valued function of $m \in \mathscr{W}$ with value a symmetric second-order contravariant tensor in V. Note that, if we forget that \mathscr{B} is a domain in the vector space V but consider that it is a manifold, then **H** is interpreted as a tensor field along Ψ with values in $\mathbb{S}^2 T \mathscr{B}$, in other words, it is a section of the pullback bundle $\Psi^*(\mathbb{S}^2 T \mathscr{B})$.

2. Conservation of matter

Since the exterior derivative of the mass measure μ on the 3-dimensional manifold \mathscr{B} vanishes, $d\mu = 0$, we get the following conservation law.

Lemma 2.1 (Souriau, 1958). We have the following conservation law on the World tube \mathscr{W}

$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{P} = 0.$$

Proof. Let $L_{\mathbf{P}}$ be the Lie derivative with respect to \mathbf{P} . Then,

$$L_{\mathbf{P}} \operatorname{vol}_q = (\operatorname{div}^g \mathbf{P}) \operatorname{vol}_q,$$

but, using Cartan magic formula,

$$\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{P}} \operatorname{vol}_g = \mathrm{d} \, i_{\mathbf{P}} \operatorname{vol}_g = \mathrm{d} \Psi^* \mu = \Psi^* \mathrm{d} \mu = 0.$$

Remark 2.2. In Special Relativity, the equation

$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{P} = \operatorname{div}^{g}(\rho_{r}\mathbf{U}) = 0$$

recasts as the usual continuity equation of Classical Fluid Dynamics [24, 80, 82], and is interpreted as the Relativistic mass conservation. It will be shown, furthermore, in section 10, that $\operatorname{div}^{g} c\mathbf{P} = 0$ converges towards the classical continuity equation under subsequent hypothesis.

If the body \mathscr{B} is endowed with a Riemannian metric γ_0 , the rest mass density ρ_r can be related to the conformation **H**, as demonstrated by Souriau in [80], where he chose $\gamma_0 := q$, the canonical Euclidean metric on $V = \mathbb{R}^3$ (see also [43]). The notation γ_0 is chosen for consistency with the intrinsic geometric framework of three-dimensional Hyperelasticity [67, 75, 77, 45], and γ_0 is not necessarily equal to q, as discussed by several authors [4, 36] (see Appendix E for a discussion about different choices for γ_0).

Lemma 2.3 (Souriau, 1958). Let γ_0 be a fixed Riemannian metric on the body \mathscr{B} . Then, the rest mass density ρ_r can be expressed as

(2.1)
$$\rho_r = (\rho_{\gamma_0} \circ \Psi) \sqrt{\det \left[\mathbf{H}(\gamma_0 \circ \Psi) \right]},$$

where Ψ is the matter field, **H** is the conformation, and

$$\rho_{\gamma_0} = \frac{\mu}{\operatorname{vol}_{\gamma_0}}.$$

Remark 2.4. The function ρ_{γ_0} is defined on the body \mathscr{B} , and interpreted as the mass density with respect to the Riemannian volume form $\operatorname{vol}_{\gamma_0}$. It is very important to note, for subsequent applications, that ρ_{γ_0} is independent of the metric g on the Universe \mathscr{M} . Moreover, one can check that the right hand-side of (2.1) does not depend on γ_0 , as expected. Indeed if we substitute γ_1 to γ_0 in (2.1), one has $\rho_{\gamma_1} = \sqrt{\operatorname{det}(\gamma_1^{-1}\gamma_0)} \rho_{\gamma_0}$, whereas $\operatorname{det}(\mathbf{H}\gamma_1) = \operatorname{det}(\gamma_0^{-1}\gamma_1) \operatorname{det}(\mathbf{H}\gamma_0)$, and thus

$$(\rho_{\gamma_0} \circ \Psi) \sqrt{\det [\mathbf{H}(\gamma_0 \circ \Psi)]} = (\rho_{\gamma_1} \circ \Psi) \sqrt{\det [\mathbf{H}(\gamma_1 \circ \Psi)]}.$$

Proof. Note first that there exists a function ρ_{γ_0} (a mass density) defined on \mathscr{B} such that

$$\mu = \rho_{\gamma_0} \operatorname{vol}_{\gamma_0}.$$

Thus, by (1.1)-(1.3), we get

$$\omega = \rho_r \, i_{\mathbf{U}} \mathrm{vol}_g = \Psi^* \mu = (\rho_{\gamma_0} \circ \Psi) \Psi^* \mathrm{vol}_{\gamma_0}.$$

Let $m \in \mathscr{W}$ and $(e_0 = \mathbf{U}(m), e_i)$ be a direct orthonormal basis of $T_m \mathscr{M}$. Then, we have

$$\operatorname{vol}_{g_m}(\mathbf{U}(m), \boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{e}_2, \boldsymbol{e}_3) = 1$$

and

$$\rho_r(m) = \rho_r(m) \operatorname{vol}_{g_m}(\mathbf{U}(m), \boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{e}_2, \boldsymbol{e}_3) = \rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0}(\Psi(m)) \operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0(\Psi(m))}(T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_1, T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_2, T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_3).$$

Observe now that the vector space $T_{\Psi(m)}\mathscr{B}$ is endowed with two Euclidean structures; the first one, defined by $\gamma_0(\Psi(m))$ and the second one, defined by $\mathbf{H}(m)^{-1}$. Besides, the restriction of $T_m\Psi$ to the three-dimensional subspace $\mathbf{U}(m)^{\perp}$ (the orthogonal complement of $\mathbf{U}(m)$ in $T_m\mathscr{M}$) is a linear isomorphism and

$$T_m \Psi \colon (\mathbf{U}(m)^{\perp}, g_m) \to (T_{\Psi(m)}\mathscr{B}, \mathbf{H}(m)^{-1})$$

is an isometry, by the very definition of the conformation **H**. Hence, $(T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_1, T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_2, T_m \Psi \boldsymbol{e}_3)$ is a direct orthonormal basis of the Euclidean space $(T_{\Psi(m)}\mathscr{B}, \mathbf{H}(m)^{-1})$ and thus

$$\operatorname{vol}_{\mathbf{H}(m)^{-1}}(T_m\Psi \boldsymbol{e}_1, T_m\Psi \boldsymbol{e}_2, T_m\Psi \boldsymbol{e}_3) = 1$$

We have therefore

$$\operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{0}(\Psi(m))}(T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{1}, T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{2}, T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{3}) = \sqrt{\det\left[\mathbf{H}(m)\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{0}(\Psi(m))\right]}\operatorname{vol}_{\mathbf{H}(m)^{-1}}(T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{1}, T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{2}, T_{m}\Psi\boldsymbol{e}_{3})$$
$$= \sqrt{\det\left[\mathbf{H}(m)\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{0}(\Psi(m))\right]},$$

and thus

$$\rho_r(m) = \rho_{\gamma_0}(\Psi(m)) \sqrt{\det \left[\mathbf{H}(m)\gamma_0(\Psi(m))\right]}.$$

Remark 2.5. In Classical Continuum Mechanics, the body is often identified with a reference configuration Ω_0 embedded in \mathbb{R}^3 and endowed with the euclidean metric $\gamma_0 = q$. Two mass densities, ρ_0 on Ω_0 and ρ on the deformed configuration Ω (also embedded in \mathbb{R}^3), are usually defined. A classical expression of mass balance is formulated on Ω_0 as

(2.2)
$$\rho_0 = (\rho \circ \phi) \sqrt{\det(q^{-1}\mathbf{C})},$$

where $\phi: \Omega_0 \to \Omega$ is the *deformation*, $\mathbf{C} := \phi^* q$ is the *right Cauchy–Green tensor* (defined on Ω_0 as the pullback by the deformation ϕ of the Euclidean metric q). The formal comparison of (2.1), recast as

$$\rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0} \circ \Psi = \rho_r \sqrt{\det\left[(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \circ \Psi) \mathbf{H}^{-1}\right]},$$

with (2.2), shows that (2.1) can be interpreted as a Relativistic generalization of the mass conservation law for Galilean deformable solids. It also shows that the inverse of the (contravariant) conformation **H** plays the role of the (covariant) right Cauchy–Green tensor **C**.

3. Conformation and strains

The existence of the unit timelike vector field **U** on the World tube \mathscr{W} allows to perform the related orthogonal decompositions of the metric g and co-metric g^{-1} (see Appendix A),

(3.1)
$$g = h - \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat}, \quad g^{-1} = h^{\sharp} - \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U}, \quad \text{on } \mathscr{W},$$

where the tensor fields h (noted E in [44]) and $h^{\sharp} = g^{-1}hg^{-1}$, the spatial part of g and g^{-1} respectively, are uniquely defined by the conditions

(3.2)
$$h\mathbf{U} = 0$$
, and $h = g$ on \mathbf{U}^{\perp} ,

where \mathbf{U}^{\perp} is the three-dimensional (necessarily spacelike) orthogonal subbundle to \mathbf{U} . Both h and h^{\sharp} have signature (0, +, +, +). These orthogonal decompositions are highlighted at the beginning of most works on Relativistic Fluids or Solids [24, 54, 14, 44]. We point out, however, that Souriau did not need to perform them to derive the general covariant formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity [80, 82]. There are two reasons for it. First, the four-dimensional symmetric second-order tensors h and h^{\sharp} are strongly related to the conformation

$$\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi) g^{-1} (T\Psi)^{\star}$$

by lemma 3.1. Secondly, h and h^{\sharp} do not appear naturally in the derivation of a general covariant formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity, contrary to the conformation **H** (see theorem 4.5).

Lemma 3.1. On the World tube \mathcal{W} , we have

(3.3)
$$\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi) h^{\sharp} (T\Psi)^{\star}, \quad and \quad h = (T\Psi)^{\star} \mathbf{H}^{-1} T\Psi$$

where $h = g + \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat}$ and $h^{\sharp} = g^{-1}hg^{-1}$.

Proof. First, since $T\Psi \mathbf{U} = 0$, the conformation, when restricted to the World tube \mathcal{W} , recasts as

$$\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi) \left(h^{\sharp} - \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} \right) (T\Psi)^{\star} = (T\Psi) h^{\sharp} (T\Psi)^{\star}.$$

Then, to prove the second equality, remark that the statement is pointwise. Therefore, we can use an orthonormal basis (e_{μ}) of $T_m \mathscr{M}$ with $e_0 = \mathbf{U}(m)$. In this basis, h_m is represented by the 4×4 matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I_3 \end{pmatrix},$$

where I_3 is the 3×3 identity matrix. Now, respectively to this basis and the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^3 , the linear map $T_m \Psi: T_m \mathscr{M} \to \mathbb{R}^3$ is represented by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & M \end{pmatrix}$$

where M is a 3×3 invertible matrix, and its transpose $(T_m \Psi)^*$ by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\ M^{\star} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\mathbf{H}(m) = (T_m \Psi) g_m^{-1} (T_m \Psi)^{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & M \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & I_3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ M^{\star} \end{pmatrix} = M M^{\star},$$

and

$$(T_m\Psi)^{\star}\mathbf{H}(m)^{-1}T_m\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ M^{\star} \end{pmatrix} M^{-\star}M^{-1}\begin{pmatrix} 0 & M \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ I_3 \end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_3 \end{pmatrix} = h_m.$$

The definition of a strain in (hyper)elasticity is usually obtained by comparing two metrics. If the body \mathscr{B} is endowed with a fixed Riemannian metric γ_0 , it can be used to define a strain tensor in Relativistic Hyperelasticity. A first possibility [14, 58] is to introduce the pullback by Ψ of γ_0 , given by

(3.4)
$$h_0 := \Psi^* \gamma_0 = (T\Psi)^* (\gamma_0 \circ \Psi) T\Psi,$$

and called a *frozen metric* in [43, 44] (these authors note it h rather than h_0). It is defined on the World tube \mathscr{W} and is of signature (0, +, +, +). Conversely, given a quadratic form h_0 on \mathscr{W} with signature (0, +, +, +), the question of when it can be realized as the pullback by Ψ of a fixed Riemannian metric γ_0 on the body, has been investigated by Kijowski and Magli (see Appendix E).

A possible generalization of the *Euler-Almansi strain tensor* [14, 58] is then obtained as the four-dimensional symmetric covariant tensor field,

(3.5)
$$\mathbf{e} := \frac{1}{2}(h - h_0).$$

Note that $\mathbf{e} = 0$ for $h = h_0$ and that \mathbf{e} is degenerate since $\mathbf{eU} = 0$.

Remark 3.2. As observed by Carter and Quintana [14], since the linear tangent map $T\Psi$ plays a role similar to that of the inverse of the tangent map $\mathbf{F} = Tp$ in Classical Continuum Mechanics (see remark 1.2), the frozen metric h_0 plays a role similar to that of the inverse, sometimes called the finger deformation tensor, of the left Cauchy–Green tensor $\mathbf{b} := \mathbf{F} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \mathbf{F}^*$.

Other choices for strain tensors similar to the ones of Classical Continuum Mechanics can be made, for instance the following ones which are simpler and probably more relevant,

(3.6)
$$\mathfrak{E} := \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{H}^{-1} - \mathbf{H}_0^{-1} \right) \quad \text{or} \quad \widehat{\mathfrak{E}} := -\frac{1}{2} \log \left(\mathbf{H} \mathbf{H}_0^{-1} \right),$$

where

$$\mathbf{H}_0 := \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \circ \boldsymbol{\Psi}.$$

The first one generalizes the *Green–Lagrange strain*, whereas the second one generalizes the *logarithmic strain* introduced by Becker [3] and Hencky [40] (see [56]). They both vanish when $\mathbf{H}^{-1} = \mathbf{H}_0^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 \circ \Psi$. These strain tensors are three-dimensional second-order tensors. Like the

Note that \mathbf{H}_0 is related to h_0 by

$$h_0 = (T\Psi)^* \mathbf{H}_0 (T\Psi)$$

and that, by lemma 3.1 and definitions (3.4)–(3.5), \mathfrak{E} is connected to \mathbf{e} , defined by (3.5), by

$$\mathbf{e} = (T\Psi)^{\star} \mathfrak{E} (T\Psi) \quad \text{on } \mathscr{W}.$$

4. LAGRANGIAN FORMULATION

In [80, 82], Souriau has proposed a clear and detailed formulation of Hyperelasticity in the framework of General Relativity. He called this formulation *Variational Relativity* (which is the title of [80]). His approach consists in writing Lagrangians (*i.e.* functionals depending on tensorial fields) and looking for critical points of them (Principle of Least, or Stationary, Action). This formulation is inspired by Gauge Theory [9], which is the main framework of Fields Theory and Quantum Mechanics and can also be used to formulate General Relativity using variational principles (see Palatini's Method [71, 28]).

The starting point is the Hilbert-Einstein functional

(4.1)
$$\mathscr{H}(g) = \int (aR_g + b) \operatorname{vol}_g$$

defined formally on the set of all Lorentzian metrics on the Universe \mathcal{M} . Here, the two constants a and b are related to the Einstein constant κ (depending on the Newton constant G) and the cosmological constant Λ by

$$\kappa = \frac{8\pi G}{c^4} = \frac{1}{2a}, \qquad \Lambda = -\frac{b}{2a}.$$

As derived first by Hilbert [42], the L^2 -gradient of \mathscr{H} (for Ebin's metric [23]) is the symmetric second order covariant tensor field

(4.2)
$$\operatorname{grad} \mathscr{H} = a \operatorname{\mathbf{Ric}}_g - \frac{1}{2} (a R_g + b)g = \frac{1}{2\kappa} (\mathbf{G}_g + \Lambda g)$$

where Ric_g is the Ricci tensor of the metric g, $R_g = \operatorname{tr}(g^{-1}\operatorname{Ric}_g)$ is the scalar curvature, and \mathbf{G}_g is the *Einstein tensor*, defined by

(4.3)
$$\mathbf{G}_g := \mathbf{Ric}_g - \frac{1}{2}R_g g.$$

The critical points of \mathscr{H} are the solutions of Einstein's equation in the vacuum (with cosmological constant)

$$\mathbf{G}_q + \Lambda g = 0.$$

To introduce the effects of matter in this framework, a second functional $\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}(g, \Psi)$, depending on the metric g and the matter field Ψ , is added to \mathscr{H} to build a new Lagrangian

$$\mathscr{L}(g,\Psi) = \mathscr{H}(g) + \mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{matter}}(g,\Psi).$$

Following Souriau [80, 82], for Relativistic continua, one assumes that the Lagrangian for perfect matter $\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}(g, \Psi)$ depends only on the 0-jet of the metric g and of the 1-jet of the matter field Ψ . In other words, it takes the form

(4.4)
$$\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}(g,\Psi) = \int L_0\left(g_{\mu\nu},\Psi^I,\frac{\partial\Psi^I}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right) \operatorname{vol}_g,$$

where

$$L_0: (\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}) \to L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau})$$

is a smooth scalar function which has for arguments a quadratic form γ (of signature (-, +, +, +)) on \mathbb{R}^4 , a vector $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and matrix $\boldsymbol{\tau}$ with 3 raws and 4 columns. The function L_0 is called the *Lagrangian density* of the functional $\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}$, and its evaluation on the fields (g, Ψ) , that is $L_0\left(g_{\mu\nu}, \Psi^I, \frac{\partial \Psi^I}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right)$, will be denoted as $L_0(g, \Psi, T\Psi)$. Its evaluation at a point $m \in \mathscr{M}$ is then noted $L_0(g_m, \Psi(m), T_m\Psi)$.

Remark 4.1. The Lagrangian density L_0 is noted p and called the *presence* in [80]. It is noted ϵ and called the *rest frame energy density* in [43]. It is noted ρ or σ in [4].

In order to avoid unnecessary analytical difficulties and since, in practice, we do not require that Lagrangian densities are integrable over the whole manifold \mathcal{M} , usually not compact, Lagrangian densities are integrated only over relatively compact domains U (and furthermore contained in a local chart). Therefore, we shall write

$$\mathscr{L}_U(g, \Psi) = \int_U L(g_m, \Psi(m), T_m \Psi) \operatorname{vol}_g,$$

to emphasize the dependence on U. When we just want to express that a Lagrangian \mathscr{L} is defined by the Lagrangian density L, we simply write

$$\mathscr{L}(g,\Psi) = \int L(g_m,\Psi(m),T_m\Psi)\operatorname{vol}_g,$$

omitting the domain of integration.

The main postulate of General Relativity is precisely that *Physical laws must be independent* of the choice of coordinates. This principle is known as *General Covariance*, or invariance by coordinates change, or invariance by (local) diffeomorphisms. Let us describe this principle in more precise terms and formulate its consequences. Let $\varphi: U \to \widetilde{U}$ be a diffeomorphism between two open sets U and \widetilde{U} . Then, the Lagrangian \mathscr{L} is invariant by φ if

(4.5)
$$\mathscr{L}_{U}(\varphi^{*}g,\varphi^{*}\Psi) = \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{U}}(g,\Psi),$$

for every Lorentzian metrics g on \mathcal{M} , and vector valued functions $\Psi : \mathcal{M} \to V$. Here, the action of a (local) diffeomorphism φ on these field variables is defined by

$$\varphi^* g = (T\varphi)^* (g \circ \varphi)(T\varphi), \text{ and } \varphi^* \Psi = \Psi \circ \varphi.$$

If the invariance (4.5) holds for every local diffeomorphism $\varphi \colon U \to \widetilde{U}$, then, \mathscr{L} is said to be general covariant.

Remark 4.2. It is well-known that the Hilbert-Einstein functional ${\mathscr H}$ is general covariant. Indeed,

$$\mathscr{H}_U(\varphi^*g) = \mathscr{H}_{\widetilde{U}}(g),$$

for every diffeomorphism $\varphi \colon U \to \widetilde{U}$, by virtue of the change of variables formula

$$\int_U \varphi^* \omega = \int_{\widetilde{U}} \omega,$$

and because

$$[aR_{\varphi^*g} + b)\operatorname{vol}_{\varphi^*g} = \varphi^*[(aR_g + b)\operatorname{vol}_g]$$

As shown by Noether [64, 47], a direct consequence of this invariance is the fundamental property [25, 91]

$$\operatorname{div}^{g}(\mathbf{G}_{q} + \Lambda g) = \operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{G}_{q} = 0.$$

Lemma 4.3. If the Lagrangian

$$\mathscr{L}^{matter}(g,\Psi) = \int L_0(g_m,\Psi(m),T_m\Psi)\operatorname{vol}_g$$

is general covariant, then, its Lagrangian density satisfies

(4.6)
$$L_0(\mathbf{A}^*\boldsymbol{\gamma}\,\mathbf{A},\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{\tau}\mathbf{A}) = L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma},\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{\tau}), \quad \forall \mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{GL}(4).$$

$$f(\mathbf{y}) := L_0(A(\mathbf{y})^* g_{\mathbf{y}} A(\mathbf{y}), \Psi(\mathbf{y}), T_{\mathbf{y}} \Psi A(\mathbf{y})$$

for $\mathbf{y} \in \widetilde{U}$, where $A(\mathbf{y}) = T_{\varphi^{-1}(\mathbf{y})}\varphi$. Then, $T_m\varphi = A(\varphi(m))$, for $m \in U$ and $L_0((\varphi^*q)_m, (\varphi^*\Psi)(m), T_m(\varphi^*\Psi)) = f(\varphi(m)).$

Therefore

$$\mathscr{L}_{U}(\varphi^{*}g,\varphi^{*}\Psi) = \int_{U} f(\varphi(m))\varphi^{*}\mathrm{vol}_{g} = \int_{\widetilde{U}} f(\mathbf{y})\mathrm{vol}_{g},$$

by the change of variable formula, and the general covariance property leads to

$$f(\mathbf{y}) = L_0(A(\mathbf{y})^* g_{\mathbf{y}} A(\mathbf{y}), \Psi(\mathbf{y}), T_{\mathbf{y}} \Psi A(\mathbf{y})) = L_0(g_{\mathbf{y}}, \Psi(\mathbf{y}), T_{\mathbf{y}} \Psi), \quad \forall \mathbf{y}.$$

Hence, the Lagrangian density is subject to the following invariance

$$L_0(\mathbf{A}^{\star}\boldsymbol{\gamma}\mathbf{A},\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{\tau}\mathbf{A}) = L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma},\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{\tau}), \quad \forall \mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{GL}(4)$$

Remark 4.4. Since the Lie derivative is the infinitesimal version of the pullback, meaning that

$$\mathcal{L}_X \mathbf{T} := [\partial_s \varphi(s)^* \mathbf{T}]_{s=0}$$

for every tensor field **T** and every path of (local) diffeomorphisms $\varphi(s)$ with

 $\varphi(0) = \mathrm{id}, \quad \mathrm{and} \quad [\partial_s \varphi(s)]_{s=0} = X,$

there is also an almost¹ equivalent *infinitesimal formulation of general covariance* [64], which is used by several authors (such as in [90]). For instance, in the present case, the general covariance of the matter Lagrangian $\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}$

$$\mathscr{L}_{U}^{\mathrm{matter}}(\varphi^{*}g,\varphi^{*}\Psi) = \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{U}}^{\mathrm{matter}}(g,\Psi),$$

for every local diffeomorphism $\varphi \colon U \to \widetilde{U}$ leads to

$$\frac{\delta \mathscr{L}_U^{\text{matter}}}{\delta g} \, \mathrm{L}_X \, g + \frac{\delta \mathscr{L}_U^{\text{matter}}}{\delta \Psi} \, \mathrm{L}_X \, \Psi = 0.$$

Therefore, its Lagrangian density must satisfy (see [79])

$$\frac{\partial L_0}{\partial \boldsymbol{\gamma}} : (\mathbf{L}_X g)_m + \frac{\partial L_0}{\partial \boldsymbol{v}} \cdot (\mathbf{L}_X \Psi)(m) + \frac{\partial L_0}{\partial \boldsymbol{\tau}} : (T_m \, \mathbf{L}_X \, \Psi) = 0, \qquad \forall m.$$

The following result is essential for the formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity and exhibits the fundamental role played by the conformation. It must be compared to the fact that an elastic energy in Classical Continuum Mechanics, which is *objective* (*i.e.* satisfies the *material frame indifference* principle [89]) depends on the deformation φ only through the right Cauchy–Green tensor $\mathbf{C} = \varphi^* q$.

Theorem 4.5 (Souriau (1958)). Suppose that the Lagrangian

$$\mathscr{L}^{matter}(g,\Psi) = \int L_0(g_m,\Psi(m),T_m\Psi)\operatorname{vol}_g$$

is general covariant. Then, its Lagrangian density can be written as

$$L_0(g, \Psi, T\Psi) = L(\Psi, \mathbf{H}),$$

for some function L, where $\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi) g^{-1} (T\Psi)^{\star}$ is the conformation.

The proof provided below is simpler and shorter that the original one given by Souriau in [80]. The reason for it is that, in this paper, we consider only perfect matter, in which case the conformation \mathbf{H} is positive definite at each point m of the World tube. This is not an hypothesis which is made in [80].

¹indeed equivalent to covariance by diffeomorphisms isotopic to the identity.

Proof. Consider a smooth Lagrangian density $L_0(\gamma, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau})$, where γ is a quadratic form of signature (-, +, +, +) on \mathbb{R}^4 , $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and $\tau \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^4, \mathbb{R}^3)$ satisfies $\tau \overline{\tau} > 0$. Suppose moreover that this Lagrangian density satisfies the following covariance property

$$L_0(\mathbf{A}^* \boldsymbol{\gamma} \mathbf{A}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau} \mathbf{A}) = L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}), \qquad \forall \mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{GL}(4).$$

First, we can find $\mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{GL}(4)$ such that $\mathbf{A}^* \boldsymbol{\gamma} \mathbf{A} = \eta$, where

$$\eta = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}$$

is the canonical Lorentz inner product. Hence we get

$$L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}) = L_0(\eta, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_1), \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{\tau}_1 = \boldsymbol{\tau} \mathbf{A} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{A}^* \boldsymbol{\gamma} \mathbf{A} = \eta.$$

Now, we introduce the following change of variables $\tau_1 \mapsto (R, \mathbf{H})$, where

$$\mathbf{H} = \boldsymbol{\tau}_1 \eta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\tau}_1^{\star} = \boldsymbol{\tau} \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\tau}^{\star}, \qquad R = V^{-1} \boldsymbol{\tau}_1,$$

and V is the positive square root of the positive definite symmetric operator on (\mathbb{R}^3, q)

$$\boldsymbol{\tau}_1\overline{\boldsymbol{\tau}_1} = \mathbf{H}q = \boldsymbol{\tau}_1\eta^{-1}\boldsymbol{\tau}_1^{\star}q$$

with q, the canonical Euclidean metric on \mathbb{R}^3 .

We can check that $R\overline{R} = R\eta^{-1}R^*q = I_3$ is a condition which defines a submanifold of the vector space of linear mappings $\mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^4,\mathbb{R}^3)$, and that $\tau_1\mapsto (R,\mathbf{H})$ is a diffeomorphism from the open set

$$\left\{oldsymbol{ au}_1\in\mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^4,\mathbb{R}^3);\ oldsymbol{ au}_1\overline{oldsymbol{ au}_1}>0
ight\}$$

onto the manifold

$$\left\{R \in \mathscr{L}(\mathbb{R}^4, \mathbb{R}^3); \ R\overline{R} = I_3\right\} \times \left\{\mathbf{H} \in \mathbb{S}^2(\mathbb{R}^3); \ \mathbf{H} > 0\right\}$$

Hence, we can find a smooth function $L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R, \mathbf{H})$, such that

$$L_0(\eta, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_1) = L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R, \mathbf{H}),$$

with the property that

$$L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R, \mathbf{H}) = L_0(\eta, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_1) = L_0(\eta, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_1 Q) = L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, RQ, \mathbf{H}),$$

for every Lorentz transformation Q. Next, we can find a Lorentz transformation Q such that $RQ = R_0$ with

$$R_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_3 \end{pmatrix}$$

because $R\overline{R} = R_0\overline{R_0} = I_3$. Therefore, we get finally

$$L_0(\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}) = L_0(\eta, \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{\tau}_1) = L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R, \mathbf{H}) = L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R_0, \mathbf{H}),$$

and $L_1(\boldsymbol{v}, R_0, \mathbf{H})$ is a function $L(\boldsymbol{v}, \mathbf{H})$, which depends only on \boldsymbol{v} and $\mathbf{H} = \boldsymbol{\tau}_1 \eta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\tau}_1^* = \boldsymbol{\tau} \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\tau}_1^*$.

The following splitting of the Lagrangian density has been introduced by Souriau [80, 82] and DeWitt [19]:

(4.7)
$$L(\Psi, \mathbf{H}) = \rho_r c^2 + E(\Psi, \mathbf{H}) = \rho_r c^2 + \rho_r e(\Psi, \mathbf{H}),$$

where ρ_r is the rest mass density, expressed as

$$\rho_r = \rho_{\gamma_0}(\Psi) \sqrt{\det \left[\mathbf{H}(\gamma_0 \circ \Psi)\right]},$$

by lemma 2.3, provided a fixed metric γ_0 has been given on the body \mathscr{B} and $\rho_{\gamma_0} = \mu/\mathrm{vol}_{\gamma_0}$. The contribution $\rho_r c^2$ alone (E = 0) allows for the modeling of perfect (non electromagnetic) dust. The function E (resp. e) is the internal energy density (resp. the specific internal energy). It is representative of perfect fluids when its dependency on \mathbf{H} is introduced only through the determinant det $[\mathbf{H}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 \circ \Psi)]$. The additional dependency on Ψ and \mathbf{H} through the energy density E is more generally representative of Relativistic hyperelastic solids.

We conclude this section by emphasizing that the present formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity does not require the definition of a time function (which is indeed not a necessity in astrophysics) and the associated assumption of a foliation of the World tube \mathscr{W} by spacelike hypersurfaces. All we need is to endow the body \mathscr{B} with a fixed metric γ_0 as in [80, 82, 14].

5. The stress-energy tensor

The stress-energy tensor, also called energy-momentum tensor can be considered as a fourdimensional generalization of the stress tensor in Classical three-dimensional Continuum Mechanics. In General Relativity, it is the source of the curvature of the metric g of the Universe. It is usually defined as the variational derivative of a Lagrangian with respect to the metric g[41, 42, 64, 47, 8] and, for this reason, it is thus a symmetric contravariant second-order tensor field (or a tensor distribution defined on symmetric second-order covariant tensor fields, in more general situations [83]).

In the present case, the Euler-Lagrange stationary equation $\delta \mathscr{L} = 0$ for the Lagrangian

$$\mathscr{L}(g, \Psi) = \mathscr{H}(g) + \mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{matter}}(g, \Psi),$$

leads in particular to the equation

$$\frac{\delta\mathscr{H}}{\delta g} + \frac{\delta\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}}{\delta g} = 0,$$

when only variations of the metric g are considered. It recasts as the Einstein field equation

(5.1)
$$\mathbf{G}_g^{\sharp} + \Lambda g^{-1} = \kappa \mathbf{T}_g$$

if $\mathbf{G}_{g}^{\sharp} = g^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{g}g^{-1}$ is the contravariant form of Einstein's tensor (4.3), and

$$\mathbf{\Gamma} := -2 \frac{\delta \mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}}{\delta g}$$

is the *stress-energy tensor* (the source term in Einstein's equation), which is a symmetric contravariant second-order tensor field on the Universe \mathcal{M} .

Remark 5.1. Because div^{*g*}($\mathbf{G}_{g}^{\sharp} + \Lambda g^{-1}$) = 0 (see remark 4.2), the stress-energy tensor **T** satisfies the conservation law

$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T} = 0.$$

As observed by Einstein himself [26], "div $\mathbf{T} = 0$, that's mechanics". Indeed, this equation generalizes in 4D (and non flat Universe) the three-dimensional equilibrium equations of Classical Continuum Mechanics. When a spacetime structure is adopted, the Cauchy stress tensor is related to the spacelike components of \mathbf{T} (see section 8).

The following result provides a general expression for the stress-energy tensor of \mathbf{T} in the case of Relativistic Hyperelasticity (see also [43]).

Theorem 5.2 (Souriau, 1958). Consider the general covariant matter Lagrangian

$$\mathscr{L}^{matter}(g,\Psi) = \int L \operatorname{vol}_g, \qquad L = \rho_r c^2 + E_g$$

with

$$\rho_r = \rho_{\gamma_0}(\Psi) \sqrt{\det \left[\mathbf{H}(\gamma_0 \circ \Psi) \right]} \quad and \quad E = E(\Psi, \mathbf{H})$$

and where γ_0 is a fixed metric on the body \mathscr{B} . Then, its stress-energy tensor has the following expression

(5.2)
$$\mathbf{T} = -2\frac{\delta \mathscr{L}^{matter}}{\delta q} = \rho_r c^2 \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{S},$$

where

$$\mathbf{S} := E g^{-1} - 2g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial E}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1}.$$

is the (four-dimensional) relativistic stress tensor on \mathcal{W} . Moreover, we have

$$\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\mathfrak{p}} = E \, \mathbf{U}, \quad and \quad \mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\mathfrak{p}} = -L \mathbf{U},$$

Remark 5.3 (Bennoun, 1965). Since $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \neq 0$, the decomposition (5.2) is not an orthogonal decomposition relative to \mathbf{U} (see Appendix A). Writing $E = \rho_r e$, with $e = e(\Psi, \mathbf{H})$, the specific internal energy, the stress-energy tensor naturally recasts, using its orthogonal decomposition relative to \mathbf{U} , as

(5.3)
$$\mathbf{T} = L \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \boldsymbol{\Sigma},$$

where its spatial part

(5.4)
$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma} := -2\rho_r g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1},$$

is such that

$$\Sigma = S + E U \otimes U$$
 and $\Sigma \cdot U^{\flat} = 0$

can also be interpreted as a (four-dimensional) relativistic stress tensor.

Proof. Consider the variation $\delta_g \mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}$ of the Lagrangian $\mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}}$ with respect to the metric g. Then, we have

$$\delta_g \mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}} = \int (\delta_g L) \operatorname{vol}_g + L \,\delta_g \operatorname{vol}_g,$$

with

$$\delta_g L = \operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{H}}\delta_g \mathbf{H}\right)$$
 and $\delta_g \operatorname{vol}_g = \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(g^{-1}\delta g)\operatorname{vol}_g$.

But

$$\delta_g \mathbf{H} = -(T\Psi)g^{-1}\delta g \, g^{-1}(T\Psi)^*,$$

and hence

$$\delta_g L = -\operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{H}}(T\Psi)g^{-1}\delta g \, g^{-1}(T\Psi)^\star\right) = -\operatorname{tr}\left(g^{-1}(T\Psi)^\star \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{H}}(T\Psi)g^{-1}\delta g\right).$$

We get thus

$$\delta_g \mathscr{L}^{\text{matter}} = -\int \text{tr}\left[\left(g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} - \frac{1}{2} L g^{-1} \right) \delta g \right] \text{vol}_g,$$

and therefore

$$\mathbf{T} = 2g^{-1}(T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial L}{\partial \mathbf{H}} T\Psi g^{-1} - L g^{-1}.$$

Now, we have

$$\frac{\partial \rho_r}{\partial \mathbf{H}} = \frac{1}{2} \rho_r \; \mathbf{H}^{-1}$$

and thus

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{T} &= \rho_r c^2 \, g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \mathbf{H}^{-1} (T\Psi) \, g^{-1} + 2g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial E}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} - \rho_r c^2 \, g^{-1} - E \, g^{-1} \\ &= \rho_r c^2 \left[g^{-1} h g^{-1} - g^{-1} \right] + 2g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial E}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} - E \, g^{-1} \\ &= \rho_r c^2 \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} + 2g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial E}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} - E \, g^{-1}, \end{aligned}$$

where the second equality is gained by lemma 3.1, and the third one by (3.1). Finally, since $T\Psi \cdot \mathbf{U} = 0$ and \mathbf{U} is a unit timelike vector field, we get $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\flat} = E \mathbf{U}$, and $\mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\flat} = -L\mathbf{U}$. \Box

Example 5.4 (Relativistic perfect fluid). The stress-energy tensor of a Relativistic perfect fluid,

$$\mathbf{T} = (L+P) \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} + P g^{-1}, \qquad L = \rho_r c^2 + E$$

corresponds to an internal energy density of the form $E = \rho_r e(\rho_r)$, where $P = \rho_r^2 e'(\rho_r)$ is the pressure. Indeed, in that case, we have

$$\frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} = e'(\rho_r) \frac{\partial \rho_r}{\partial \mathbf{H}} \quad \text{with} \quad \frac{\partial \rho_r}{\partial \mathbf{H}} = \frac{1}{2} \rho_r \ \mathbf{H}^{-1},$$

and thus, by lemma 3.1, we get

$$(T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) = \frac{1}{2} \rho_r e'(\rho_r) (T\Psi)^* \mathbf{H}^{-1} (T\Psi) = \frac{1}{2} \rho_r e'(\rho_r) h.$$

Therefore

$$\Sigma = -2\rho_r g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} = -\rho_r^2 e'(\rho_r) g^{-1} h g^{-1} = -P(g^{-1} + \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U}),$$

where we have set $P := \rho_r^2 e'(\rho_r)$, and we get

$$\mathbf{S} = \mathbf{\Sigma} - E \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} = -(E+P)\mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - P g^{-1}.$$

The corresponding stress–energy tensor is thus given by

$$\mathbf{T} = \rho_r c^2 \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{S} = L \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{\Sigma} = (\rho_r c^2 + E + P) \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} + P g^{-1}.$$

Even if the full theory is four-dimensional, the orthogonal decomposition (5.3) of **T** relative to **U**, and the definition (5.4) (*i.e.*, the Relativistic Hyperelasticity law) naturally introduce a three-dimensional symmetric stress tensor, either *covariant*,

(5.5)
$$\mathbf{s} := -2\frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}},$$

or, contravariant,

$$\mathbf{H} \mathbf{s} \mathbf{H} = 2 \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}^{-1}},$$

since the conformation is invertible (and contravariant). The stress tensors **s** and **HsH** are generalizations of the *second Piola–Kirchhoff stress tensor* (expressed on a reference configuration Ω_0 of Classical Continuum Mechanics) or more precisely here of the *Rougée stress tensor* [75, 77] (defined on the body \mathscr{B} , see Appendix G). These constitutive equations are the threedimensional Relativistic Hyperelasticity laws. They do not depend on the further assumption of a foliation of the World tube \mathscr{W} , nor on the consideration of a spacetime.

The underlying question [27, 10] is then how to properly import in General Relativity existing Classical Continuum Mechanics constitutive laws formulated on the body \mathscr{B} [77, 45] (or a reference configuration Ω_0). Indeed, many three-dimensional expressions of energy densities

(5.6)
$$w = w(\widehat{\gamma}), \quad \widehat{\gamma} := \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma, \quad \text{on } \mathscr{B} \quad \left(i.e., \ w = w(\widehat{\mathbf{C}}), \ \widehat{\mathbf{C}} := q^{-1} \mathbf{C}, \text{ when } \mathscr{B} \equiv \Omega_0\right),$$

are available in the Classical Continuum Mechanics literature [61, 37, 69, 2, 85, 33]. They are local function of the mixed tensor $\hat{\gamma} = \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma$, defined using the reference metric γ_0 on \mathscr{B} (equivalently, of the mixed right Cauchy–Green tensor $\hat{\mathbf{C}}$ on Ω_0), meaning that

$$w(\mathbf{X}) = w\left(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}(\mathbf{X})\right), \quad \mathbf{X} \in \mathscr{B}.$$

The use of such energy densities is then straightforward in the Relativistic framework, if one sets (using definition (3.7))

(5.7)
$$e(\Psi, \mathbf{H}) = w\left((\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \circ \Psi) \, \mathbf{H}^{-1}\right) = w\left(\mathbf{H}_0 \, \mathbf{H}^{-1}\right).$$

Using (5.7), we get

(5.8)
$$\mathbf{s} = -2\frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} = 2\,\mathbf{H}^{-1}\mathbf{H}_0\frac{\partial w}{\partial\widehat{\gamma}}\mathbf{H}^{-1}, \qquad \mathbf{H}\,\mathbf{s}\,\mathbf{H} = 2\,\mathbf{H}_0\frac{\partial w}{\partial\widehat{\gamma}},$$

so that the stress-energy tensor T and the four-dimensional stress Σ recast finally as

(5.9)
$$\mathbf{T} = L\mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{\Sigma}, \qquad \mathbf{\Sigma} = \rho_r \, g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \, \mathbf{s} \, (T\Psi) g^{-1}$$

We refer to Appendix G for the full link —which needs the consideration of a spacetime— with stresses on the body \mathcal{B} .

6. Universe's foliation by spacelike hypersurfaces

There is no Mechanics without the proper definition of *time* and *space*. To introduce these concepts in General Relativity, one usually starts by introducing a smooth submersion (a *time function*) \hat{t} on the Universe \mathscr{M} with a timelike gradient everywhere. Then, spacelike hypersurfaces are defined as

(6.1)
$$\mathscr{E}_t := \left\{ m \in \mathscr{M}; \ \hat{t}(m) = t \right\},$$

and one expects the Universe to be foliated by these hypersurfaces [54, 35]. The problem is that, in general, a global foliation of the Universe might not exist (see [35, Chapter 4]). Anyway, if such a foliation exists or is given, one will say that the Universe has been endowed with a *spacetime structure* or a (3 + 1)-structure as defined in [15, 52, 30, 53, 31, 1, 92, 35].

Fortunately, for our concerns, we do not have to address this problem *globally*. In the present paper, we will simply admit that such a foliation exists on a *local chart* which contains the body World tube \mathscr{W} , or a part of it. Indeed, in Mechanical Engineering, the spacetime domain occupied by a continuous medium/a structure, embedded for example in a laboratory, a building, a city, a country, a domain of space ... can be considered as included into such a local chart.

Moreover, since the presence of the studied matter in the laboratory does not affect (much) the Universe metric g compared to the one of Earth (*passive matter* assumption), we can choose, among the numerous spacetimes encountered in General Relativity and available in [39, 60, 62], those describing solutions of Einstein equations in the vacuum. These spacetimes are usually described using a coordinate system (x^{μ}) , for which the time function is chosen as

$$\hat{t} = \frac{x^0}{c},$$

and we then define Ω_t as the intersection of the World tube \mathscr{W} with the spacelike hypersurface \mathscr{E}_t ,

$$\Omega_t := \mathscr{W} \cap \mathscr{E}_t = \mathscr{W} \cap \left\{ x^0 = ct \right\}.$$

The three-dimensional hypersurfaces Ω_t of the Universe play the same role as the configurations, parameterized by time t, of Classical Continuum Mechanics [89, 65, 66, 55, 6, 84, 29], with the difference that the later are embedded in the three-dimensional Euclidean space \mathscr{E} , not in the four-dimensional Universe \mathscr{M} . This construction is illustrated in Figure 2, where a second time, t_0 , and the associated hypersurface Ω_{t_0} (a possible reference configuration) are represented.



FIGURE 2. The foliation of the World tube \mathscr{W} by spacelike hypersurfaces Ω_t .

The canonical embedding of these submanifolds into the Universe \mathscr{M} is noted $j_t: \Omega_t \to \mathscr{M}$ (rather than θ as in [39, Chapter 7]). Then, for each t, the pullback of the matter field Ψ by j_t ,

$$\Psi_t := j_t^* \Psi = \Psi \circ j_t \colon \Omega_t \to V$$

is just the restriction of Ψ to Ω_t , and we have $\Psi_t(\Omega_t) = \mathscr{B}$.

Remark 6.1. We have not made, so far, the assumption that Ψ_t is a diffeomorphism. However, the tangent map

$$T_{\mathbf{x}}\Psi_t \colon T_{\mathbf{x}}\Omega_t \to T_{\Psi_t(\mathbf{x})}\mathscr{B}$$

is an isomorphism for each $\mathbf{x} \in \Omega_t$ and each t, since we have assumed that Ψ is a submersion. We shall denote the inverse mapping of $T\Psi_t$ by $\mathbf{F}(t)$ and omit, when not necessary, the explicit dependence on time and write simply $\mathbf{F} = (T\Psi_t)^{-1}$. If we make, furthermore, the stronger hypothesis that Ψ_t is a diffeomorphism we can set

$$p(t) = \Psi_t^{-1} \colon \mathscr{B} \to \Omega_t,$$

and then $\mathbf{F} = Tp$.

The unit normal to the spacelike hypersurfaces Ω_t , proportional to the gradient of the time function \hat{t} , is denoted by the quadrivector **N**. We have two opposite choices to define such a unit vector and we define **N** as [35]

(6.2)
$$\mathbf{N} := -\frac{\operatorname{grad} \hat{t}}{\sqrt{-\left\|\operatorname{grad} \hat{t}\right\|^2}},$$

where the gradient and the norm are relative to the metric g. The minus sign is chosen so that the quadrivector **N** is *future-oriented*, meaning that the value of \hat{t} increases along the flow curves of **N**. Note that, at each point $m \in \mathcal{M}$ where the spacetime structure is defined, we have the orthogonal decomposition

$$T_m \mathscr{M} = \langle \mathbf{N}(m) \rangle \oplus \mathbf{N}(m)^{\perp},$$

where, for each $m \in \Omega_t$, the orthogonal subspace $\mathbf{N}(m)^{\perp} = T_m \Omega_t$ coincides with the tangent space at m to the spacelike hypersurface Ω_t .

An important special case, and the only one used in this paper for our description of Relativistic Continuum Mechanics of solids, is the one of a *static spacetime*. Such a spacetime is induced by a *static metric*, *i.e.*, a metric g for which there exists a timelike Killing vector field X (*i.e.* $L_X g = 0$), which is moreover the gradient of a time function \hat{t} . There exists then a coordinate system (x^{μ}) , with $x^0 = ct$ the time coordinate, for which

$$\frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^0} = 0$$
 and $g_{0i} = 0$.

In that case, we get

grad
$$\hat{t} = \frac{1}{c}g^{00}\partial_{x^0},$$

and the unit normal ${\bf N}$ is written as

$$\mathbf{N}=\sqrt{-g^{00}}\partial_{x^0}$$

Examples of static spacetimes are the Minkowski and the Schwarzschild [78] spacetimes.

7. Matter field in a spacetime – Generalized Lorentz factor

Perfect matter in the Universe \mathscr{M} is represented by a matter field Ψ . This field generates a timelike quadrivector \mathbf{P} on the World tube \mathscr{W} , as introduced in section 1, and a unit timelike quadrivector $\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{P}/\rho_r$. Therefore, if a spacetime structure is introduced on the Universe as it has been explained in section 6, we get a second unit timelike quadrivector \mathbf{N} , normal to the hypersurfaces Ω_t , and in general not collinear to \mathbf{U} . By changing the sign of the time function \hat{t} if necessary, we can assume, anyway, that both \mathbf{U} and \mathbf{N} define the same time orientation. This is characterized by the condition

$$\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g < 0.$$

Thus, the quadrivector \mathbf{U} can be written uniquely using the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{U}^N + \mathbf{U}^\top$$

where $\mathbf{U}^N = -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g \mathbf{N}$ is the normal component of \mathbf{U} and \mathbf{U}^{\top} is the tangential component to Ω_t . Introducing the function (see for instance [34])

(7.1)
$$\gamma := -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_q$$

one can write thus,

(7.2)
$$\mathbf{U}^N = \gamma \mathbf{N}, \text{ and } \mathbf{U}^\top = \frac{\gamma}{c} \boldsymbol{u},$$

where c is the light speed, and $\boldsymbol{u} \in \mathbf{N}^{\perp} = T\Omega_t$.

Remark 7.1. Since we deal with a foliation by hypersurfaces Ω_t , rather than just one hypersurface, the tangential component \mathbf{U}^{\top} of a vector field \mathbf{U} defined on \mathscr{M} (or an open subset of \mathscr{M}) can be simultaneously interpreted as a vector field defined on \mathscr{M} but tangential to Ω_t at each point m, or as a (time-dependent) vector field on Ω_t (when restricted to Ω_t). In our notations, we do not distinguish between these two interpretations.

The orthogonal decomposition $\gamma \mathbf{N} + \frac{\gamma}{c} \boldsymbol{u}$ of \mathbf{U} and the relation $T\Psi \cdot \mathbf{U} = 0$ deduced from (1.2) allow to express the three-dimensional velocity \boldsymbol{u} on Ω_t , as

(7.3)
$$\boldsymbol{u} = -c \, \mathbf{F} \, T \boldsymbol{\Psi} . \mathbf{N}, \qquad \mathbf{F}^{-1} := T \boldsymbol{\Psi}_t,$$

where $\mathbf{F}: T\mathscr{B} \to T\Omega_t$ is defined as the inverse of $T\Psi_t$, the restriction of $T\Psi$ to $T\Omega_t$, which is an invertible linear mapping (remark 6.1). In section 10, the expression (7.3) will allow us to interpret the Galilean limit of \boldsymbol{u} as the three-dimensional Eulerian velocity on Ω_t .

Using the fact that $\|\mathbf{U}\|_{q}^{2} = -1$, one gets furthermore that

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_g^2}{c^2}}},$$

and $\gamma \geq 1$ since u is spacelike. This function plays a fundamental role in General Relativity and its notation is not accidental. In the special case of the Minkowski spacetime, where $g = \eta$ is the Minkowski metric, one recovers the traditional Lorentz factor

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{\boldsymbol{u}^2}{c^2}}},$$

where $\boldsymbol{u}^2 := \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_q^2$ is the square Euclidean norm of \boldsymbol{u} . For this reason, we shall call $\gamma = -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g$ the generalized Lorentz factor.

Remark 7.2 (Rest frame and observers). The concept of rest frame is well-defined for a particle in Special Relativity. Its definition for distributed matter in general Relativity is much less clear. In this paper, we will adopt the following definition. Given a matter field Ψ , a rest frame will be defined as a spacetime in which $\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{N}$, *i.e.*, as a spacetime in which the generalized Lorentz factor is $\gamma = 1$. For such a spacetime, we will get of course $\mathbf{u} = 0$ and the particles can be considered at rest in it. The corresponding time coordinate will thus be interpreted as the proper time τ . More generally and heuristically, we can interpret \mathbf{U} as "inducing a splitting of the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{W}$ for matter" and \mathbf{N} as "inducing an integrable splitting or (3+1) spacetime for an observer". The Lorentz factor $\gamma = -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g$ is then the "angle" between these two timelike directions.

Finally, the normal component of the current of matter $\mathbf{P} = \rho_r \mathbf{U}$ (definition (1.3)) is then simply

$$\mathbf{P}^N = \gamma \rho_r \, \mathbf{N} = \rho \, \mathbf{N},$$

where **N** is the unit timelike normal to the hypersurfaces Ω_t . The function

(7.4)
$$\rho := \gamma \rho_r,$$

defined on the World tube \mathscr{W} , is interpreted as the *relativistic mass density*. A geometric interpretation of the restriction of ρ to Ω_t is provided in Appendix D.

8. Relativistic stress tensors and constitutive laws in a spacetime

We assume here that the World tube \mathscr{W} is foliated by three-dimensional hypersurfaces Ω_t , with unit timelike normal **N**. Then, it is possible to use the orthogonal decomposition of each tangent space relative to **N** to split each tensor field accordingly. These splittings are referred to as (3+1)-decompositions in the General Relativity literature [1, 92, 35]. Explicit formulas for second-order tensors are provided in Appendix A. We follow here the calculations of Souriau [80, 82] for the flat Minkowski spacetime and extend them to any spacetime, thanks to this (3+1)-decomposition. These calculations generalize the ones given for relativistic fluids in [35] to relativistic solids. In particular, the orthogonal decomposition of the stress-energy tensor allows us to introduce relativistic generalizations of the *Cauchy stress tensor* as 3D tensors and to recast the 4D Relativistic Hyperelasticity law (theorem 5.2) as a three-dimensional constitutive equation, relating these 3D stress tensors to the conformation **H**.

The orthogonal decompositions of g and g^{-1} , relative to the unit timelike vector **N** (instead of **U** as in section 3) are

(8.1)
$$g = g^{3D} - \mathbf{N}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{N}^{\flat}, \qquad g^{-1} = (g^{3D})^{\sharp} - \mathbf{N} \otimes \mathbf{N}, \qquad g^{3D} \mathbf{N} = 0,$$

where the degenerate quadratic form g^{3D} and $(g^{3D})^{\sharp} = g^{-1}g^{3D}g^{-1}$ are of signature (0, +, +, +), by lemma A.2. This decomposition allows, in particular, to recast the conformation as

$$\mathbf{H} = T\Psi g^{-1} (T\Psi)^{\star} = T\Psi ((g^{3D})^{\sharp} - \mathbf{N} \otimes \mathbf{N}) (T\Psi)^{\star}$$

with

$$T\Psi(\mathbf{N}\otimes\mathbf{N})(T\Psi)^{\star} = T\Psi\left(\frac{1}{\gamma}\mathbf{U} - \frac{1}{c}\mathbf{u}\right)\otimes\left(\frac{1}{\gamma}\mathbf{U} - \frac{1}{c}\mathbf{u}\right)(T\Psi)^{\star} = \mathbf{F}^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{c^{2}}\mathbf{u}\otimes\mathbf{u}\right)\mathbf{F}^{-\star},$$

since $T\Psi$.**U** = 0, and thus

(8.2)
$$\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{F}^{-1} \left((g^{3D})^{\sharp} - \frac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} \right) \mathbf{F}^{-\star}$$

When applied to the stress-energy tensor \mathbf{T} , the orthogonal decomposition (A.2) leads to

(8.3)
$$\mathbf{T} = E_{\text{tot}} \, \mathbf{N} \otimes \mathbf{N} + \frac{1}{c} \left(\mathbf{N} \otimes \boldsymbol{p} + \boldsymbol{p} \otimes \mathbf{N} \right) + \mathbf{t}$$

and allows to define the physical components of \mathbf{T} in the considered spacetime:

- E_{tot} is the total energy density,
- **p** is the momentum density vector field,
- and the spatial part \mathbf{t} of \mathbf{T} is related to the *stress field*.

The question asked by Souriau is then: How are these quantities related to a three-dimensional relativistic generalization of the *Cauchy stress tensor* σ ? As shown below, the answer depends on the choice of the decomposition of the stress-energy tensor (see theorem 5.2 and remark 5.3). Indeed, we have seen that there are two possible splittings of it:

- (1) $\mathbf{T} = \rho_r c^2 \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} \mathbf{S}$ (considered by Souriau [80, 82] and Synge [86]),
- (2) or, $\mathbf{T} = L\mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ (considered by Eckart [24] and Bennoun [5]).

The orthogonal decompositions (relative to N) of the two four-dimensional stresses S and Σ interestingly give rise to two possible ways to define a three-dimensional stress tensor σ :

- (1) either as the spatial part of \mathbf{S} ,
- (2) or, as the spatial part of Σ .

First choice: σ is defined as the spatial part of S. Using the fact that $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\flat} = E \mathbf{U}$ by theorem 5.2 with $\mathbf{U}^{\flat} = \gamma \mathbf{N}^{\flat} + \gamma \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}/c$ by (7.2), the orthogonal decomposition of S can be expressed as

(8.4)
$$\mathbf{S} = \alpha \, \mathbf{N} \otimes \mathbf{N} + \mathbf{N} \otimes \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{a} \otimes \mathbf{N} + \boldsymbol{\sigma}$$

where the spatial part of **S** has been set equal to σ , and

$$\boldsymbol{a} = rac{1}{c} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} - E \boldsymbol{u}
ight), \quad ext{and} \quad lpha = rac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} - E \left(1 + rac{\|\boldsymbol{u}\|^2}{c^2}
ight).$$

The associated orthogonal decomposition of the stress-energy tensor $\mathbf{T} = \rho_r c^2 \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \mathbf{S}$ is then

$$\begin{cases} E_{\text{tot}} = \gamma \rho c^2 + E \left(1 + \frac{1}{c^2} \| \boldsymbol{u} \|^2 \right) - \frac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \\ \boldsymbol{p} = (\gamma \rho c^2 + E) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}, \\ \mathbf{t} = \gamma \rho \, \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \end{cases}$$

where $\rho = \gamma \rho_r$ is the relativistic mass density. The three-dimensional stress tensor σ , defined as the spatial part of

(8.5)
$$\mathbf{S} = -2\rho_r \, g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1} - E \, \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U},$$

is thus

(8.6)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = -\frac{2}{\gamma} \rho \left(g^{3D}\right)^{\sharp} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} \mathbf{F}^{-1} (g^{3D})^{\sharp} - \frac{\gamma^2 E}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}.$$

The later equation can be interpreted as a three-dimensional Hyperelasticity law. Introducing the generalized second Piola–Kirchhoff stress tensor (5.5), we get

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\gamma} \rho \, (g^{3D})^{\sharp} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \, \mathbf{s} \, \mathbf{F}^{-1} (g^{3D})^{\sharp} - \frac{\gamma^2 E}{c^2} \, \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \mathbf{s} = -2 \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}}.$$

Second choice: σ is defined as the spatial part of Σ . Using this time the fact that $\Sigma \cdot \mathbf{U}^{\flat} = 0$ by remark 5.3, we get the orthogonal decomposition

(8.7)
$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = \frac{1}{c^2} (\boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}) \, \mathbf{N} \otimes \mathbf{N} + \frac{1}{c} \left(\mathbf{N} \otimes (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}) + (\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}) \otimes \mathbf{N} \right) + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{\mathbf{N}}$$

where the spatial part of Σ has been set equal to σ . The associated orthogonal decomposition of the stress-energy tensor $\mathbf{T} = L\mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U} - \boldsymbol{\Sigma}$, with $L = \rho_r c^2 + E$, is now

$$\begin{cases} E_{\text{tot}} = \gamma^2 L - \frac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}, \\ \boldsymbol{p} = \gamma^2 L \, \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}, \\ \mathbf{t} = \frac{\gamma^2}{c^2} L \, \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \end{cases}$$

where, using $\gamma^2 = 1 + \frac{\gamma^2}{c^2} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|^2$,

$$\gamma^{2}L = \gamma \rho c^{2} + E \left(1 + \frac{\gamma^{2}}{c^{2}} \left\| \boldsymbol{u} \right\|^{2} \right).$$

The three-dimensional stress tensor σ , defined as the spatial part of

(8.8)
$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma} = -2\rho_r g^{-1} (T\Psi)^* \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} (T\Psi) g^{-1}$$

is then

(8.9)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} := -\frac{2}{\gamma} \rho \left(g^{3D}\right)^{\sharp} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} \mathbf{F}^{-1} (g^{3D})^{\sharp}$$

a relation which can be interpreted as a three-dimensional Hyperelasticity law. Introducing (5.5), we end up with

(8.10)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} := \frac{1}{\gamma} \rho \left(g^{3D} \right)^{\sharp} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \mathbf{s} \, \mathbf{F}^{-1} (g^{3D})^{\sharp}, \qquad \mathbf{s} = -2 \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}}.$$

Conversely, once the three-dimensional generalized Cauchy stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is given (through a three-dimensional Hyperelasticity law), the four-dimensional stress tensors \mathbf{S} and $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ are then fully determined, either by (8.4) or by (8.7). Even if the full theory is four-dimensional, the Relativistic Hyperelasticity laws are three-dimensional. Finally, observe also that the difference between (8.6) and (8.9) is purely relativistic: both of them converge to the same three-dimensional stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ at the Galilean limit $c \to 0$ if one assumes $\lim_{c\to\infty} (E/c^2) = 0$.

Remark 8.1. The three-dimensional stress tensor,

$$\boldsymbol{\tau} := \frac{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}{\rho_r} = \gamma \frac{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}{\rho}, \quad \text{such as} \quad \boldsymbol{\tau} = (g^{3D})^{\sharp} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \mathbf{s} \, \mathbf{F}^{-1} (g^{3D})^{\sharp},$$

is a first Relativistic generalization of the Kirchhoff stress tensor σ/ρ of Classical Continuum Mechanics (see Appendix G for a second generalization relative to the Schwarzschild spacetime).

9. Relativistic Hyperelasticity in Schwarzschild spacetime

In [80, 81, 82], Souriau has provided a full description of Relativistic Hyperelasticity in the Minkowski spacetime, making implicitly the *passive matter hypothesis*, meaning that the matter field Ψ under study is negligible as a source of the gravitation field. Minkowski spacetime is a flat static spacetime, with no gravitational source, which is described in some coordinate system $(x^0 = ct, x^i)$ by the constant metric

$$\eta = -(dx^0)^2 + \delta_{ij}dx^i dx^j$$

Of course, this situation is not fully realistic. However, due to the fact that for any point m_0 of the Universe, it is always possible to find a chart around m_0 in which the Christoffel symbols vanish at m_0 , we can assume that the Christoffel symbols are almost zero around this point. This situation exactly corresponds to a free fall (like inside an orbital station), it approximately corresponds to mechanical situations on Earth surface for which gravity can be neglected or not taken into account.

Our goal here is to extend Souriau's results on Relativistic Hyperelasticity by taking into account gravity. These results will be used in the next section to formulate classical Galilean Hyperelasticity with gravity (or Newton–Cartan theory of Continuum Mechanics [11, 12, 13]). To do so, rather than using the Minkowski spacetime, we shall assume here that the continuous medium/the structure considered is embedded in the Schwarzschild spacetime [78, 60, 62] (see Appendix B). Therefore, we neglect the influence of the matter under study (passive matter hypothesis) as a source of the gravity field. The exterior Schwarzschild metric is a static solution g of Einstein equation $\mathbf{G}_g = 0$ in the vacuum (with vanishing cosmological constant $\Lambda = 0$). It is representative of the gravity field around a spherical and nonrotating planet (or a star or a black hole) of mass M and radius r_0 , such as the Earth. In this model, the rotation of the celestial body as a potential source of the gravitation field has been neglected. An alternative would have been to choose the Kerr metric [62] rather than the Schwarzschild metric, another possible choice which we did not make. A practical consequence of this choice is that the frame deduced from the coordinate system in which is described the Schwarzschild metric corresponds to one pointing at fixed stars (the Earth is assumed to be nonrotating).

In the so-called *Cartesian isotropic coordinates* (see Appendix B), the Schwarzschild metric has for expression

$$g = -\left(\frac{\bar{r} - \bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r} + \bar{r}_{\rm s}}\right)^2 c^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 + \left(1 + \frac{\bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r}}\right)^4 \delta_{ij} x^i x^j, \qquad \bar{r} := \sqrt{\delta_{ij} x^i x^j},$$

with $\bar{r} = 0$ at the center of the planet and $\bar{r} \approx r_0$ on its surface. The reduced Schwarzschild radius

$$\bar{r}_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{4}r_{\rm s} = \frac{GM}{2c^2}$$

depends on the gravitational constant G, the mass M of the celestial body, and the light speed c. It is much smaller than the radius r_0 of the planet [60] ($\bar{r}_s \approx 2 \text{ mm}$ for the Earth).

Introducing the lapse function [1]

$$\mathcal{N} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\|\text{grad}^g x^0\|^2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g^{00}}} = \sqrt{-g_{00}} = \frac{1 - \bar{r}_{\text{s}}/\bar{r}}{1 + \bar{r}_{\text{s}}/\bar{r}},$$

the metric can be written as

(9.1)
$$g = -\mathscr{N}^2 c^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 + g^{3D},$$

where g^{3D} is the spatial (conformal) metric,

(9.2)
$$g^{3D} = kq, \qquad k = \left(1 + \frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}}\right)^{4} \qquad q = \delta_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^{i} \mathrm{d}x^{j}.$$

The unit normal N, defined by (6.2), to the three-dimensional spatial hypersurfaces Ω_t is simply

(9.3)
$$\mathbf{N} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{N}} \,\partial_{x^0} = \frac{1}{c\mathscr{N}} \,\partial_t.$$

Remark 9.1. The flat Minkowski spacetime (Special Relativity) is simply the limiting massless case M = 0 and thus $\bar{r}_s = r_s = 0$. It is a special case of this more general framework.

The Schwarzschild metric is not flat. The non-vanishing symmetric Christoffel symbols, in the Cartesian isotropic coordinate systems (x^{μ}) and (t, x^{i}) , can easily be recovered using the usual formula (C.3) since $g^{3D} = k(\bar{r})q$ is conformal (see also [62]). They are written as

(9.4)

$$\Gamma_{ti}^{t} = \Gamma_{0i}^{0} = (\operatorname{d} \ln \mathscr{N})_{i} = 2\frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}}\frac{1}{(1-\bar{r}_{s}^{2}/\bar{r}^{2})}\delta_{ik}\frac{x^{k}}{\bar{r}},$$

$$\Gamma_{tt}^{i} = c^{2}\Gamma_{00}^{i} = c^{2}\frac{\mathscr{N}}{k}(\operatorname{grad}\mathscr{N})^{i} = 2c^{2}\frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}}\frac{(1-\bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})}{(1+\bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})^{7}}\frac{x^{i}}{\bar{r}},$$

$$\Gamma_{jj}^{i} = -\frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{grad}\ln k)^{i} = 2\frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}}\frac{1}{(1+\bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})}\frac{x^{i}}{\bar{r}}, \quad \text{for } i \neq j,$$

$$\Gamma_{ji}^{j} = \frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{d}\ln k)_{i} = -2\frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}}\frac{1}{(1+\bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})}\delta_{ik}\frac{x^{k}}{\bar{r}}, \quad \text{for } i = j \text{ and } i \neq j.$$

with no sum on j, and where, for a function f, grad $f = q^{-1} df$ is the gradient relative to the Euclidean metric $q = (\delta_{ij})$. The related divergence operators are detailed in Appendix C.

In the following, we particularize the relations established in section 8 for the special case of the Schwarzschild spacetime when expressed in Cartesian isotropic coordinates.

• The three-dimensional velocity u defined by (7.3) is then given by

(9.5)
$$\boldsymbol{u} = -\frac{1}{\mathcal{N}} \mathbf{F} \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial t}$$

where $\mathbf{F} = T\Psi_t^{-1}$ was introduced in (7.3).

• The generalized Lorentz factor (7.1) has then for expression

(9.6)
$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - k\frac{u^2}{c^2}}},$$

where $\boldsymbol{u}^2 := \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_q^2$ is the Euclidean squared norm and $k = \left(1 + \frac{\bar{r}_s}{\bar{r}}\right)^4$.

• The conformation (8.2) reduces to

(9.7)
$$\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{F}^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{k} q^{-1} - \frac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} \right) \mathbf{F}^{-\star}.$$

• For the two choices of a three-dimensional stress σ introduced in section 8, where $\rho = \gamma \rho_r$ is the relativistic mass density, we get, in the coordinate system (t, x^i) ,

(9.8)
$$\mathbf{T} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}^2} E_{\text{tot}} & \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}} \boldsymbol{p}^* \\ \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}} \boldsymbol{p} & \mathbf{s} \end{pmatrix}$$

(1) When the stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is defined as the spatial part of **S**:

(9.9)
$$\begin{cases} E_{\text{tot}} = \gamma \rho c^2 + E \left(1 + k \frac{\boldsymbol{u}^2}{c^2} \right) - \frac{1}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}, \\ \boldsymbol{p} = (\gamma \rho c^2 + E) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}, \\ \mathbf{t} = \gamma \rho \, \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} = -\frac{2}{\gamma k^2} \rho \, q^{-1} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} \mathbf{F}^{-1} q^{-1} - \frac{\gamma^2 E}{c^2} \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} \end{cases}$$

(2) When the stress tensor σ is defined as the spatial part of Σ :

(9.10)
$$\begin{cases} E_{\text{tot}} = \gamma \rho c^2 + E\left(1 + k\gamma^2 \frac{u^2}{c^2}\right) - \frac{1}{c^2} u^{\flat} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot u^{\flat} \\ \boldsymbol{p} = \left(\gamma \rho c^2 + E\left(1 + k\gamma^2 \frac{u^2}{c^2}\right)\right) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot u^{\flat}, \\ \mathbf{t} = \left(\gamma \rho + \frac{1}{c^2} E\left(1 + k\gamma^2 \frac{u^2}{c^2}\right)\right) \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}, \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} = -\frac{2}{\gamma k^2} \rho q^{-1} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \frac{\partial e}{\partial \mathbf{H}} \mathbf{F}^{-1} q^{-1}. \end{cases}$$

Remark 9.2. The above expressions generalize Souriau's 1958–1964 results when gravity is taken into account. Note that in (9.9), in the special case k = 1 (Special Relativity), there is a contribution Eu^2/c^2 in the expression of E_{tot} . This term is however missing in [80, p. 153] but this typo was corrected in [82, p. 376].

The full description of Relativistic Hyperelasticity must be completed by writing balance laws for the four-momentum quadrivector and the stress-energy tensor. They are written as

(9.11)
$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{P} = 0,$$

(9.12)
$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T} = 0,$$

where **P** is the current of matter and **T** is the stress-energy tensor. Using explicit formulas for these divergence operators provided in Appendix C, where we use here the Cartesian isotropic coordinates system (t, x^i) , we obtain the following equations.

• The conservation law (9.11) for the current of matter

(9.13)
$$\mathbf{P} = \rho_r \mathbf{U} = \frac{\rho}{c\mathcal{N}} \partial_t + \frac{1}{c} \rho \boldsymbol{u},$$

leads (after multiplication by c) and according to (C.4), to

(9.14)
$$\operatorname{div}^{g} c\mathbf{P} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} (\rho u^{i}) + (\Gamma_{ji}^{j} + \Gamma_{ti}^{t}) \rho u^{i} = 0,$$

or, in a more intrinsic form

$$\operatorname{div}^{g} c\mathbf{P} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{N}} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}}(\rho \boldsymbol{u}) + \rho \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \mathscr{N} = 0.$$

• The conservation law (9.12) for the stress-energy tensor **T**, expressed in components by (9.8), has for time component, according to (C.5)

(9.15)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{t} = \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}^{2}} \frac{\partial E_{\operatorname{tot}}}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}} \frac{\partial p^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \left(\Gamma_{ji}^{j} + 3\Gamma_{ti}^{t} - \frac{\partial \ln \mathscr{N}}{\partial x^{i}}\right) \frac{p^{i}}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}} = 0,$$

or, in a more intrinsic form

$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{t} = \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathcal{N}^{2}} \frac{\partial E_{\operatorname{tot}}}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathcal{N}} \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}} \mathbf{p} + 2 \frac{\mathbf{p}}{c^{2} \mathcal{N}} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \mathcal{N} = 0,$$

and for spatial component, according to (C.7)

(9.16)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{i} = \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}} \frac{\partial p^{i}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial s^{ij}}{\partial x^{j}} + (\Gamma_{kj}^{k} + \Gamma_{0j}^{0})s^{ij} + \Gamma_{jk}^{i}s^{jk} + \Gamma_{tt}^{i}\frac{E_{\text{tot}}}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}^{2}} = 0,$$

or, in a more intrinsic form

$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{\top} = \frac{1}{c^{2} \mathscr{N}} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{p}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}} \mathbf{s} + \mathbf{s} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \mathscr{N} + E_{\operatorname{tot}} \operatorname{grad}^{g^{3D}} \ln \mathscr{N} = 0,$$

where $\operatorname{grad}^{g^{3D}} \ln \mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{k} q^{-1} \operatorname{d} \ln \mathcal{N}$.

B. KOLEV AND R. DESMORAT

10. The Galilean limit of Relativistic Hyperelasticity

Soon after Einstein's formulation of the theory of General Relativity (1915), Cartan introduced, in a series of papers [11, 12, 13], a general covariant formulation of Newtonian gravity, today called *Newton-Cartan theory of gravitation*. It can be obtained as the limit of Lorentzian spacetimes whose light cones open up to hyperplanes at each tangent space [49]. It allows to recast the equations of energy and momentum balance of Classical Continuum Mechanics in a four-dimensional general covariant form, similar to the relativistic equation div^g $\mathbf{T} = 0$, provided the specific internal energy and the energy flux are suitably interpreted. This 4D general covariant formalism [88, 48, 20, 22, 38, 21, 17], derived from General Relativity, is also useful to better understand the foundations of Classical Continuum Mechanics and avoid *ad hoc* assumptions in its formulation.

A Galilean structure on a four-dimensional manifold \mathscr{M} is a pair (\mathfrak{g}, θ) , where \mathfrak{g} is a symmetric second-order contravariant tensor of signature (0, +, +, +) (the classical spatial metric) and θ is a one-form which spans the kernel of \mathfrak{g} (the clock). This means that $\mathfrak{g}\theta = 0$ and that θ vanishes nowhere. The one-form θ defines a distribution of hyperplanes $E_m := \ker \theta_m$, each of them, carrying an Euclidean metric induced by \mathfrak{g} . The Galilean structure is called integrable if θ is closed. In that case, θ defines a time function \hat{t} satisfying $d\hat{t} = \theta$ (at least locally) and a foliation by hypersurfaces, $\mathscr{E}_t := \hat{t}^{-1}(t)$, tangent to the distribution (E_m) , and which are moreover Riemannian manifolds.

A covariant derivative ∇ on \mathcal{M} is said to be Galilean if it is symmetric (torsion-less) and satisfies moreover

$$\nabla \mathfrak{g} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \nabla \theta = 0.$$

Such a covariant derivative exists only if the Galilean structure (\mathfrak{g}, θ) is integrable (since $\nabla \theta = 0$ implies $d\theta = 0$ for a symmetric covariant derivative). Note, however, that contrary to the canonical covariant derivative of a Riemannian (or pseudo-Riemannian) manifold, a Galilean covariant derivative is not uniquely defined.

In practice, a Galilean structure (\mathfrak{g}, θ) is obtained as a limit of a one-parameter family of smooth Lorentz metrics \hat{q} , such that

$$\overset{\lambda}{g}^{-1} = \mathfrak{g} + \lambda \kappa + O(\lambda^2),$$

with \mathfrak{g} of signature (0, +, +, +), and θ is a generator of the kernel of \mathfrak{g} [16, 48]. Note that θ can be fixed uniquely up to a sign by the normalization $\kappa(\theta, \theta) = -1$. It has been shown in [49] that, provided that $d\theta = 0$ (a condition which is always satisfied by static spacetimes such as the Minkowski or the Schwarzschild spacetimes), the one-parameter family of Riemannian covariant derivatives ∇^{λ} converges then to a symmetric covariant derivative ∇^{NC} which is compatible with the Galilean structure (\mathfrak{g}, θ) .

Recall moreover, that, on a Riemannian or pseudo-Riemannian manifold, the Riemann tensor **R** (defined in components by $R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = g_{\alpha\rho}R^{\rho}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta}$) has the additional symmetry

$$R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = R_{\gamma\delta\alpha\beta},$$

and that, uprising the first and third indices, we obtain the following identity

$$g^{\gamma\lambda}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\delta} = g^{\alpha\lambda}R^{\gamma}{}_{\delta\lambda\beta}.$$

Therefore, when a Galilean covariant derivative is obtained as a limit of (pseudo-)Riemannian covariant derivatives, it must satisfies the additional property

(10.1)
$$\mathfrak{g}^{\gamma\lambda}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\delta} = \mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\lambda}R^{\gamma}{}_{\delta\lambda\beta}$$

and is then called a Newtonian covariant derivative.

Applying this procedure to the Schwarzschild metric (9.1),

$$\hat{g} = -\mathcal{N}^2 c^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 + k \, q,$$

with $\lambda := 1/c^2$, we get

(10.2)
$$\mathcal{N} = 1 - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{GM}{\bar{r}} + O(1/c^4), \qquad k = 1 + \frac{2}{c^2} \frac{GM}{\bar{r}} + O(1/c^4),$$

and

(10.3)
$$\hat{g}^{-1} = q^{-1} - \frac{1}{c^2} \left((\partial_t)^2 + 2\frac{GM}{\bar{r}} q^{-1} \right) + O(1/c^4),$$

where $q^{-1} = (\partial_{x^1})^2 + (\partial_{x^2})^2 + (\partial_{x^3})^2$. Observe also that we have,

(10.4)
$$\operatorname{vol}_{\frac{\lambda}{g}} = cf \, \mathrm{d}t \wedge \operatorname{vol}_{q}, \quad \text{where} \quad f = \mathscr{N}k^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1 + \frac{2}{c^{2}}\frac{GM}{\bar{r}} + O(1/c^{4}),$$

for the Riemannian volume form associated with the metric $\overset{\lambda}{g}$. Note that $\operatorname{vol}_{\overset{\lambda}{g}}$ diverges as $c \to \infty$.

We obtain thus the following Galilean structure,

$$\mathbf{g} = q^{-1}, \qquad \mathbf{\kappa} = -(\partial_t)^2 - 2\frac{GM}{\bar{r}}q^{-1}, \qquad \theta = \mathrm{d}t$$

where the normalisation condition $\kappa(\theta, \theta) = -1$ has been used. This structure is of course integrable, and the time function is the same, in either the relativistic context or the Galilean one. Therefore, the foliation by the hypersurfaces Ω_t is common to both structures. Note however that by (9.3), the relativistic normal \mathbf{N}^{λ} to these hypersurfaces converges towards 0 as $c \to \infty$.

An immediate consequence of (10.3) is the fact that the *conformation* $\hat{\mathbf{H}}$ defined by (1.5) has a limit when $c \to \infty$. Indeed,

(10.5)
$$\bar{\mathbf{H}} := \lim_{c \to \infty} \hat{\mathbf{H}} = \mathbf{F}^{-1} q^{-1} \mathbf{F}^{-\star}.$$

Remark 10.1. Observe the similarity between the (limit) conformation $\overline{\mathbf{H}}$ and the inverse \mathbf{C}^{-1} of right Cauchy–Green tensor $\mathbf{C} := \mathbf{F}^* q \mathbf{F}$ in Classical Continuum Mechanics. However, $\overline{\mathbf{H}}$ is not exactly \mathbf{C}^{-1} because it is a function from the World tube \mathcal{W} to $\mathbb{S}^2 T \mathcal{B}$ (see remark 1.5), while \mathbf{C}^{-1} is a tensor field on \mathcal{B} .

Concerning the Riemannian covariant derivative ∇^{λ} of \hat{g} , the expansion of its non vanishing Christoffel symbols is easily deduced from (9.4) and recalling that $\bar{r}_{s} = GM/2c^{2}$. We get

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{tt}^{i} &= 2c^{2} \frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}} \frac{(1 - \bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})}{(1 + \bar{r}_{s}/\bar{r})^{7}} \frac{x^{i}}{\bar{r}} = -g^{i} - \frac{1}{c^{2}} \frac{4GM}{\bar{r}^{2}} g^{i} + O(1/c^{4}),\\ \Gamma_{ti}^{t} &= 2\frac{\bar{r}_{s}}{\bar{r}^{2}} \frac{1}{(1 - \bar{r}_{s}^{2}/\bar{r}^{2})} \delta_{ik} \frac{x^{k}}{\bar{r}} = -\frac{1}{c^{2}} \delta_{ik} g^{k} + O(1/c^{4}), \end{split}$$

(10.6)

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{jj}^{i} &= 2\frac{\bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r}^{2}} \frac{1}{(1+\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r})} \frac{x^{i}}{\bar{r}} = -\frac{1}{c^{2}} {\rm g}^{i} + O(1/c^{4}), \quad \text{for } i \neq j, \\ \Gamma_{ji}^{j} &= -2\frac{\bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r}^{2}} \frac{1}{(1+\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r})} \delta_{ik} \frac{x^{k}}{\bar{r}} = \frac{1}{c^{2}} \delta_{ik} {\rm g}^{k} + O(1/c^{4}), \quad \text{for } i = j \text{ and } i \neq j. \end{split}$$

with no sum on j, and where **g** is the Newtonian (centripetal) gravity field,

(10.7)
$$\mathbf{g} := -\frac{GM}{\bar{r}^2} \frac{x^i}{\bar{r}} \partial_{x^i},$$

with $\frac{GM}{\bar{r}^2} \approx \frac{GM}{r_0^2} = 9.8 \,\mathrm{m/s^2}$ on Earth surface. We deduce therefore that the Christoffel symbols of the Newton–Cartan limit ∇^{NC} are all vanishing except

(10.8)
$$\Gamma_{tt}^i = -\mathbf{g}^i.$$

Remark 10.2 (Weak gravity). The approximations (10.6) at large c coincide in fact with those corresponding to so-called *weak gravity* (see [18]), valid for the Earth, and more generally for a planet or a star (any object whose radius is smaller than its Schwarzschild radius being called a black hole).

The divergence of a quadrivector \mathbf{P} , relative to the Newtonian covariant derivative ∇^{NC} , is given by

(10.9)
$$\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial P^t}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial P^j}{\partial x^j}.$$

It corresponds to the zero order terms in the expansions in $\lambda = 1/c^2$ of the divergence $\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{P}$ relative to the Schwarzschild metric \hat{g} given by (C.4), since we have

$$\Gamma_{ji}^j + \Gamma_{ti}^t = \frac{2}{c^2} \delta_{ik} \mathbf{g}^k + O(1/c^4).$$

We get therefore

(10.10)
$$\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{P} = \operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \mathbf{P} + \frac{2}{c^2} \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{P}^{\top} + O(1/c^4),$$

where \mathbf{P}^{\top} is the spatial part of the quadrivector \mathbf{P} .

The divergence of a symmetric second-order contravariant tensor ${\bf T}$ is given by

(10.11)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \mathbf{T})^t = \frac{\partial T^{tt}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial T^{tj}}{\partial x^j}, \qquad (\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \mathbf{T})^i = \frac{\partial T^{it}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial T^{ij}}{\partial x^j} - \operatorname{g}^i T^{tt}$$

Indeed, by (C.5), and since by (9.4),

(10.12)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} \Gamma_{ji}^{j} + 3\Gamma_{ti}^{t} = 3 \left(d \ln(\mathcal{N}\sqrt{k}) \right)_{i} = O(1/c^{4}),$$

we obtain

(10.13)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{T})^{t} = (\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \mathbf{T})^{t} + O(1/c^{4}),$$

whereas (C.6), combined with the fact that all involved Christoffel's symbols are $O(1/c^2)$, but

$$\Gamma^i_{tt} = -\mathbf{g}^i + O(1/c^2),$$

ends up to

$$(\overset{\lambda}{\operatorname{div}}\mathbf{T})^{i} = \frac{\partial T^{it}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial T^{ij}}{\partial x^{j}} - g^{i}T^{tt} + O(1/c^{2}) = (\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}}\mathbf{T})^{i} + O(1/c^{2}).$$

The current of matter (1.1) $\overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{P}}$ for the metric $\overset{\lambda}{g}$ is defined implicitly by

$$i_{\mathbf{P}^{\lambda}} \mathrm{vol}_{\overset{\lambda}{g}} = \omega = \Psi^* \mu,$$

where the 3-form ω does not depend on the light speed c (the matter field Ψ and the mass measure μ do not depend on c, which is only introduced through the metrics). By (10.4), we get thus

$$cf i_{\mathbf{P}^{\lambda}} dt \wedge \operatorname{vol}_{q} = i_{cf\mathbf{P}^{\lambda}} dt \wedge \operatorname{vol}_{q} = \omega = \Psi^{*}\mu,$$

from which it is seen that $cf\hat{\mathbf{P}}$ is independent of c, and is therefore equal to its Newtonian limit $(c\mathbf{P})^0$ defined by $i_{(c\mathbf{P})^0} dt \wedge \operatorname{vol}_q = \omega$ (since $f \to 1$ as $c \to \infty$). Setting

(10.14)
$$c\mathbf{\hat{P}} = \overset{\lambda}{\rho}\partial_t + \overset{\lambda}{\rho}\overset{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}}, \qquad (c\mathbf{P})^0 = \bar{\rho}\partial_t + \bar{\rho}\,\bar{\boldsymbol{u}},$$

defines the mass density $\overset{\lambda}{\rho}$ and the velocity $\overset{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}}$, as well as their Newtonian limits $\bar{\rho}$ and $\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}$. The equality $cf\mathbf{P}^{\lambda} = (c\mathbf{P})^{0}$ leads to

$$\overset{\lambda}{
ho} = rac{1}{f}ar{
ho}, \qquad \overset{\lambda}{m{u}} = ar{m{u}}.$$

and allows us to expand the mass density as

$$\overset{\lambda}{\rho} = \bar{\rho} - \frac{2}{c^2} \frac{GM}{\bar{r}} \bar{\rho} + O(1/c^4).$$

We have therefore

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \stackrel{\lambda}{\rho} = \bar{\rho}, \qquad \lim_{c \to \infty} \stackrel{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}} = \bar{\boldsymbol{u}},$$

and

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \gamma = \lim_{c \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - k\frac{\boldsymbol{u}^2}{c^2}}} = 1,$$

since the generalized Lorentz factor (9.6) has the classical expansion

$$\gamma = 1 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\bar{u}^2}{c^2} + O(1/c^4).$$

Using (9.13), we see that $(\stackrel{\lambda}{\rho}, \stackrel{\lambda}{u})$ are connected to (ρ, u) by

$$\overset{\lambda}{\rho} = \frac{\rho}{\mathcal{N}}, \qquad \overset{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}} = \mathcal{N}\boldsymbol{u}, \qquad \overset{\lambda}{\rho}\overset{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}} = \rho\boldsymbol{u},$$

when the so-called relativistic mass density ρ and velocity \boldsymbol{u} are defined by the orthogonal decomposition

$$c\mathbf{\hat{P}} = \rho c\,\mathbf{\hat{N}} + \rho \boldsymbol{u}$$

By (9.5), we deduce that the Newtonian limit of the three-dimensional velocity $\boldsymbol{u} = \overset{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}}/\mathscr{N}$ is

$$\lim_{c o\infty} oldsymbol{u} = oldsymbol{ar{u}} = - \mathbf{F} rac{\partial \Psi}{\partial t}.$$

Remark 10.3. In Classical Continuum Mechanics, the Eulerian velocity is defined as the vector field on the deformed configuration given by $\partial_t p \circ p^{-1}$, where p is the embedding of the body \mathscr{B} into the Euclidean space, and where $\mathbf{V} := \partial_t p$ is the Lagrangian velocity. If we assume, furthermore, that Ψ_t is a diffeomorphism and we set $p = \Psi_t^{-1}$ (see remark 6.1), the vector field $\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}$ recasts as

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{u}} = -\mathbf{F} \,\partial_t \Psi = \partial_t \Psi_t^{-1} \circ \Psi_t = \partial_t p \circ p^{-1}$$

and we recognize \bar{u} as the Eulerian velocity of Classical Continuum Mechanics.

The stress-energy tensor $\hat{\mathbf{T}} := \mathbf{T}$ has for expression, in the coordinate system (t, x^i) ,

(10.15)
$$\overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{T}} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}} \overset{\lambda}{E}_{\text{tot}} & \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}} \overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{p}}^{\star} \\ \frac{1}{c^2 \mathscr{N}} \overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{p}} & \overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{s}} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{where} \quad \begin{cases} \overset{\lambda}{E}_{\text{tot}} := E_{\text{tot}} / \mathscr{N} \\ \overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{p}} := \mathbf{p}, \\ \overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{s}} := \mathbf{s}. \end{cases}$$

To determine its limit, observe that the energy density \hat{E}_{tot} , the linear momentum \hat{p} and the spatial part \hat{s} behave as

(10.16)
$$\frac{\hat{E}_{\text{tot}}}{c^2} = \overset{\lambda}{\rho} + \frac{1}{c^2} \left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) + O(1/c^4),$$

(10.17)
$$\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}}{c^2} = \hat{\rho} \, \hat{\boldsymbol{u}} + \frac{1}{c^2} \left(\left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^\flat \right) + O(1/c^4),$$

(10.18)
$$\hat{\mathbf{s}} = \stackrel{\lambda}{\rho} \stackrel{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}} \otimes \stackrel{\lambda}{\boldsymbol{u}} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} + O(1/c^2),$$

where we have used indifferently either (9.9) or (9.10), and we have assumed that the internal energy density E (function of **H**) is $o(1/c^2)$ (see also the discussion in [81]). In that case, the quantities $\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2$, E and σ converge respectively to $\frac{1}{2}\bar{\rho}\bar{u}^2$, \bar{E} and $\bar{\sigma}$. Therefore, in the coordinate system (t, x^i) , the stress-energy tensor $\overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{T}}$ converges to the Newtonian limit

(10.19)
$$\bar{\mathbf{T}} = \lim_{c \to \infty} \mathbf{T}^{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\rho} & \bar{\rho} \, \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}^{\star} \\ \bar{\rho} \, \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} & \bar{\rho} \, \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} \otimes \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We now discuss the limits of the balance laws. First, by (10.10) and (10.14), we get

$$\operatorname{div}^{\lambda}(c\mathbf{\hat{P}}) = \frac{\partial \hat{\rho}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\hat{\rho}\,\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) + \frac{2}{c^2}\mathbf{g}\cdot\hat{\rho}\,\hat{\boldsymbol{u}} + O(1/c^4) = 0,$$

where div is the canonical divergence in \mathbb{R}^3 , and which can be recast as

(10.20)
$$\frac{\partial \hat{\rho}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\hat{\rho} \, \hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) = -\frac{2}{c^2} \mathbf{g} \cdot \rho \hat{\boldsymbol{u}} + O(1/c^4)$$

It converges to

$$\operatorname{div}^{\mathrm{NC}}(c\mathbf{P})^{\scriptscriptstyle 0} = \frac{\partial\bar{\rho}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\bar{\rho}\,\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) = 0.$$

One recovers thus the usual expression of mass conservation in Classical Continuum Mechanics (omitting the bars),

(10.21)
$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\rho \boldsymbol{u}) = 0,$$

for the Euclidean metric q.

Then, the relativistic conservation law $\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{T}^{\lambda} = 0$ converges to the equation $\operatorname{div}^{\mathrm{NC}} \bar{\mathbf{T}} = 0$, with (by (10.11))

$$(\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \bar{\mathbf{T}})^{t} = \frac{\partial \bar{\rho}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} (\bar{\rho} \, \bar{u}^{j}), \quad \text{and} \quad (\operatorname{div}^{\operatorname{NC}} \bar{\mathbf{T}})^{i} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\bar{\rho} \, \bar{u}^{i}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} (\bar{\rho} \, \bar{u}^{i} \bar{u}^{j} - \bar{\sigma}^{ij}) - \bar{\rho} \, \mathrm{g}^{i},$$

so that

$$\frac{\partial \bar{\rho}}{\partial t} + \operatorname{div}(\bar{\rho}\,\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\bar{\rho}\,\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}) + \operatorname{div}(\bar{\rho}\,\bar{\boldsymbol{u}}\otimes\bar{\boldsymbol{u}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}) - \bar{\rho}\mathbf{g} = 0$$

The first equation is (again) recognized as the mass conservation (10.21) and the second one as the linear momentum balance of Classical Continuum Mechanics, with gravity **g** (omitting the bars),

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\rho \, \boldsymbol{u}) + \operatorname{div}\left(\rho \, \boldsymbol{u} \otimes \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}\right) - \rho \mathbf{g} = 0.$$

By using the mass conservation law, the later can be recast as the classical expression,

(10.22)
$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}}{\partial t} + \nabla_{\boldsymbol{u}}\boldsymbol{u}\right) = \operatorname{div}\boldsymbol{\sigma} + \rho \mathbf{g},$$

where ∇ is the covariant derivative for the Euclidean metric q.

It is furthermore possible to recover the so-called *local form of energy balance* of Classical Continuum Mechanics, as a term of order $O(1/c^2)$ in the expansion of a combination of both $\overset{\lambda}{\operatorname{div}}(c^{\mathbf{P}}) = 0$ and $(\overset{\lambda}{\operatorname{div}}\mathbf{T}^{\lambda})^t = 0$ (see for instance [80] for the case of the flat Minkowski spacetime or [35] for relativistic fluids in the case of weak gravity or [49] for general discussions about this balance law).

The balance law (9.15) expresses the vanishing of the time component $(\operatorname{div}^g \mathbf{T})^t = (\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{T})^t = 0$ in which here $\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T}^{\lambda}$ is given by (10.15). Since $\overset{\lambda}{E}_{tot} = E_{tot}/\mathcal{N}$ and $\overset{\lambda}{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{p}$, it recasts as

$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{t} = (\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{\tilde{T}})^{t} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{N}} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\overset{\lambda}{E}_{\text{tot}}}{c^{2}} \right) + \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\overset{\lambda}{p}}{c^{2}} \right) + \frac{1}{c^{2}} \overset{\lambda}{p} \cdot \left(3 \operatorname{d} \ln(\mathscr{N}\sqrt{k}) - \operatorname{d} \ln\mathscr{N} \right) \right] = 0,$$

where div is the divergence relative to the three-dimensional Euclidean metric q. We have introduced the 1-form (10.12)

$$3\operatorname{d}\ln(\mathscr{N}\sqrt{k}) := \Big(\sum_{j=1}^{3}\Gamma_{ji}^{j} + 3\Gamma_{ti}^{t}\Big)\operatorname{d}x^{i} = O(1/c^{4}),$$

which is of order $O(1/c^4)$, $\overset{\lambda}{p}$ which is of order $O(c^2)$ and

$$\mathrm{d}\ln\mathcal{N} = -\frac{1}{c^2}q\mathbf{g} + O(1/c^4).$$

By (10.2), we get

(10.23)
$$\mathcal{N}(\operatorname{div}^{\lambda} \mathbf{T})^{t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{\overset{}{E}_{\text{tot}}}{c^{2}} \right) + \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{\overset{}{p}}{c^{2}} \right) + \frac{1}{c^{2}} \left(\frac{\overset{}{p}}{c^{2}} \cdot \mathbf{g} \right) + O(1/c^{4}) = 0.$$

Subtracting (10.20) from (10.23) and using (10.16) and (10.17), we get now

$$\frac{1}{c^2} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[\left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \right] + \operatorname{div} \left[\left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \right] + \rho \, \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} \right\} - \frac{2}{c^2} \rho \, \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} + O(1/c^4) = 0,$$

and thus

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) + \operatorname{div} \left(\left(E + \frac{1}{2} \rho \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) \boldsymbol{u} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} \right) - \rho \, \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = O(1/c^2).$$

Passing to the limit $c \to \infty$, we obtain therefore

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\bar{E} + \frac{1}{2} \rho \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}^2 \right) + \operatorname{div} \left(\left(\bar{E} + \frac{1}{2} \bar{\rho} \, \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}^2 \right) \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \cdot \bar{\boldsymbol{u}}^\flat \right) - \bar{\rho} \, \mathbf{g} \cdot \bar{\boldsymbol{u}} = 0$$

Using (10.22), we furthermore have (omitting the bars, with ∇ still the covariant derivative for the Euclidean metric q),

div
$$(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat}) = \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{\sigma} + \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \mathbf{d} = \frac{1}{2} \rho \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{u}^2}{\partial t} + \nabla_{\boldsymbol{u}} \boldsymbol{u}^2 \right) + \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \mathbf{d} - \rho \, \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{u},$$

since σ is symmetric, and where

$$\mathbf{d} := \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat} + (\nabla \boldsymbol{u}^{\flat})^{\star} \right),$$

is the classical strain rate tensor. We end up with the standard expression of *internal energy* balance in Classical Continuum Mechanics [55, 51],

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial e}{\partial t} + \nabla_{\boldsymbol{u}} e\right) = \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \mathbf{d},$$

with no heat transfer, and where $e := E/\rho$ is the specific internal energy.

11. CONCLUSION

We have revisited Souriau's variational formulation of Relativistic Hyperelasticity. This theory was derived in 1958 with the mindset of Gauge theory: the *perfect matter field* Ψ is somehow similar to the wave function ψ in Quantum Mechanics, but at a macroscopic scale and without the same interpretation. The role of the three-dimensional *body* \mathscr{B} , which labels the material points constitutive of the continuous medium under study in the Universe, has been emphasized: it is common to the Relativistic Hyperelasticity theory and to the three-dimensional Classical Continuum Mechanics theory. The body \mathscr{B} is naturally distinguished from a reference configuration Ω_{t_0} in the present Relativistic framework, since \mathscr{B} is embedded into the (non-physical) vector space V, whereas Ω_{t_0} is a spacelike submanifold of the Universe \mathscr{M} . In both the Classical and Relativistic frameworks, the body \mathscr{B} is endowed with a volume form, the mass measure μ , and a fixed Riemannian metric γ_0 . Since this is shared by both theories, we have tried to make a parallel, when possible, and to point out the differences. Our point of view is mainly oriented towards mechanics, rather than astrophysics.

The fundamental observation of Souriau is that the formulation of general covariant constitutive equations for perfect matter involve the metric g only through the *conformation*, defined by

$$\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi)g^{-1}(T\Psi)^{\star}.$$

It is a non degenerate contravariant three-dimensional tensor valued function which plays the role of strain, or more precisely of the inverse of the right Cauchy–Green tensor **C**. The connections between **H**, the four-dimensional degenerate metric $h = g + \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat}$ and the four-dimensional degenerate co-metric $h^{\sharp} = g^{-1} + \mathbf{U} \otimes \mathbf{U}$ (considered by Carter and Quintana [14], for instance) are given by lemma 3.1,

$$\mathbf{H} = (T\Psi)h^{\sharp}(T\Psi)^{\star}, \qquad h = (T\Psi)^{\star}\mathbf{H}^{-1}T\Psi.$$

Thanks to these formulas, all the definitions of a strain tensor can be expressed using a comparison between the inverse of the conformation \mathbf{H}^{-1} and $\mathbf{H}_0^{-1} := \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 \circ \Psi$, where $\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0$ is a reference metric on the body \mathscr{B} . Among these definitions, we mention

$$\mathfrak{E} := rac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{H}^{-1} - \mathbf{H}_0^{-1}
ight) \quad ext{and} \quad \widehat{\mathfrak{E}} := -rac{1}{2} \log \left(\mathbf{H} \, \mathbf{H}_0^{-1}
ight).$$

The links between the different metrics and strain tensors encountered in the literature, either defined on the World tube \mathcal{W} , or on the body \mathcal{B} , have been clarified (in section 3, Appendix D and Appendix F).

In the framework of Variational General Relativity, the stress-energy tensor \mathbf{T} derives from a *general covariant Lagrangian* (theorem 5.2 and remark 5.3) and its decompositions allow for the rigorous formulation of *stress tensors*,

- first, four-dimensional, such as **S** or Σ (with a preference for Eckart-Bennoun definition (8.8)),
- and, then, three-dimensional, such as the generalized second Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensor \mathbf{s} , which is always defined by (5.5), and the generalized Cauchy stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$, which definition requires the introduction of a spacetime (with a preference for our definition (8.9)).

The full Relativistic Hyperelasticity theory is four-dimensional, but its constitutive laws are essentially three-dimensional and very similar to the ones of Classical Continuum Mechanics, a feature which has been used in [27] and [10]. We have formalized it in section 8 and in Appendix G.

By considering the Schwarzschild spacetime (instead of the flat Minkowski spacetime like Souriau did), we have been able to take into account gravity. Following, this time, Künzle [49], we have recovered the Newton-Cartan formulation of Hyperelasticity in Galilean Relativity, as the limit $c \to \infty$ of our relativistic formulation in Schwarzschild spacetime.

APPENDIX A. ORTHOGONAL DECOMPOSITION OF FOUR-DIMENSIONAL 2ND-ORDER TENSORS

We detail in this Appendix the orthogonal decomposition of second-order tensor fields relative to a unit timelike quadrivector \mathbf{W} . This means that we split these tensor fields according to the orthogonal decomposition

$$T_m \mathscr{M} = \langle \mathbf{W}(m) \rangle \oplus \mathbf{W}(m)^{\perp},$$

where $\mathbf{W}(m)^{\perp}$ is the orthogonal complement of the one-dimensional timelike subspace $\langle \mathbf{W}(m) \rangle$, and thus necessarily spacelike.

• For a symmetric covariant second-order tensor field **K**:

$$\mathbf{K} = \alpha \, \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{W}^{\flat} + \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \otimes \boldsymbol{\beta} + \boldsymbol{\beta} \otimes \mathbf{W}^{\flat} + \mathbf{k},$$

where

(A.1)

- (1) $\alpha := \mathbf{W} \cdot \mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{W}$ is a function,
- (2) $\boldsymbol{\beta} := -(\mathbf{K} \cdot \mathbf{W} + \alpha \mathbf{W}^{\flat})$ is a covector field orthogonal to \mathbf{W}^{\flat} ,
- (3) $\mathbf{k} := \mathbf{K} \alpha \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{a} \mathbf{a} \otimes \mathbf{W}^{\flat}$ satisfies $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{W} = 0$ and is the spatial part of \mathbf{K} .
- For a symmetric contravariant second-order tensor field **T**:

(A.2)
$$\mathbf{T} = \alpha \, \mathbf{W} \otimes \mathbf{W} + \mathbf{W} \otimes \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{a} \otimes \mathbf{W} + \mathbf{t},$$

where

- (1) $\alpha := \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \cdot \mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{W}^{\flat}$ is a function,
- (2) $\boldsymbol{a} := -(\mathbf{T} \cdot \mathbf{W}^{\flat} + \alpha \mathbf{W})$ is a vector field orthogonal to \mathbf{N} ,
- (3) $\mathbf{t} := \mathbf{T} \alpha \mathbf{W} \otimes \mathbf{W} \mathbf{W} \otimes \mathbf{a} \mathbf{a} \otimes \mathbf{W}$ satisfies $\mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{W}^{\flat} = 0$ and is the spatial part of \mathbf{T} .

Example A.1. For $\mathbf{K} = g$, the four-dimensional metric on \mathcal{M} , we get

$$g = k - \mathbf{W}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{W}^{\flat},$$

where k is determined by $k \cdot \mathbf{W} = 0$ and k = g on \mathbf{W}^{\perp} . For $\mathbf{T} = g^{-1}$, the co-metric, we get $q^{-1} = k^{\sharp} - \mathbf{W} \otimes \mathbf{W}$,

where $k^{\sharp} = g^{-1}kg^{-1}$.

The following result (see [24] or [54, page 6]) is a consequence of Sylvester's law of inertia.

Lemma A.2. Let k be the spatial part of the metric g in the orthogonal decomposition relative to a unit timelike quadrivector \mathbf{W} . Then, k is positive definite. In particular, the signature of k is (0, +, +, +).

APPENDIX B. SCHWARZSCHILD SPACETIME

According to Birkhoff's theorem [7, 39], the only spherically symmetric solution of Einstein's equation in the vacuum with vanishing cosmological constant is the exterior Schwarzschild metric. It is a static metric which describes the gravity field outside from a (spherical, nonrotating) massive planet —or a star or a blackhole— of mass M [78, 60] and is written as

$$g = -\left(1 - \frac{2GM}{c^2 r}\right)c^2 dt^2 + \left(1 - \frac{2GM}{c^2 r}\right)^{-1} dr^2 + r^2 \left(d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \, d\varphi^2\right), \qquad r > r_{\rm s} = \frac{2GM}{c^2},$$

where G is the gravitational constant, θ is the colatitude (angle from North pole), φ is the longitude, and $r_{\rm s}$ is the Schwarzschild radius. The surface of the planet (or star) is at radius $r = r_0$ much larger than $r_{\rm s}$. The coordinate transformation,

$$\bar{r} = \frac{1}{4} \left(2r - r_{\rm s} + 2\sqrt{r(r - r_{\rm s})} \right),$$

allows first to express the Schwarzschild metric into the so-called *isotropic coordinates* expression [60, p. 840]

$$g = -\left(\frac{1-\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r}}{1+\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r}}\right)^2 c^2 \mathrm{d}t^2 + \left(1+\frac{\bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r}}\right)^4 \left[\mathrm{d}\bar{r}^2 + \bar{r}^2 \left(\mathrm{d}\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \,\mathrm{d}\varphi^2\right)\right], \qquad \bar{r} > \bar{r}_{\rm s} = \frac{r_{\rm s}}{4},$$

and, then, to put it in the *Cartesian isotropic coordinates* expression (with $\bar{r} := \sqrt{\delta_{ij} x^i x^j}$, null at the center of the planet/star),

$$g = -\left(\frac{1-\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r}}{1+\bar{r}_{\rm s}/\bar{r}}\right)^2 \mathrm{d}x^{0^2} + \left(1+\frac{\bar{r}_{\rm s}}{\bar{r}}\right)^4 \left[\mathrm{d}x^{1^2} + \mathrm{d}x^{2^2} + \mathrm{d}x^{3^2}\right], \qquad \bar{r} > \bar{r}_{\rm s} = \frac{r_{\rm s}}{4},$$

where we have set $x^0 = ct$.

Appendix C. Divergences in a static spacetime

For an arbitrary metric g and in an arbitrary coordinate system (x^{μ}) , the divergence of a quadrivector **P** and of a second-order contravariant tensor **T** are given by

(C.1)
$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{P} = \partial_{\mu} P^{\mu} + \Gamma^{\nu}_{\nu\mu} P^{\mu},$$

(C.2)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{\mu} = \partial_{\nu} T^{\mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\rho\nu} T^{\mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} T^{\rho\nu}$$

where $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ are the Christoffel symbols of the metric g, given by the standard formula

(C.3)
$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial g_{\sigma\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} + \frac{\partial g_{\sigma\nu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^{\sigma}}\right).$$

Suppose now that g is a static metric and that the coordinate system (x^{μ}) is chosen such that

$$\frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^0} = 0$$
 and $g_{0i} = 0$,

meaning that the Universe metric g does not depend on x^0 and that it is related to the spatial metric g^{3D} by

$$g = g_{00} (dx^0)^2 + g^{3D}$$
, where $g^{3D} = g_{ij} dx^i dx^j$

Then,

- (1) $\Gamma^0_{00} = \Gamma^0_{ij} = \Gamma^i_{j0} = 0,$
- (2) the Christoffel symbols $\bar{\Gamma}^i_{jk}$ of the 3D spatial metric $g^{3D} = (g_{ij})$ are equal to the spatial Christoffel symbols Γ^i_{jk} of the 4D metric g,

$$\bar{\Gamma}^i_{jk} = \Gamma^i_{jk}$$

(3) and, moreover

$$\Gamma_{00}^{i} = (\operatorname{grad}^{g^{3D}} \sqrt{-g_{00}})^{i}, \text{ and } \Gamma_{0i}^{0} = (\operatorname{d} \ln \sqrt{-g_{00}})_{i},$$

where $\operatorname{grad}^{g^{3D}} f := (g^{3D})^{\sharp} df$, when f is independent of x^0 . We get therefore

(C.4)
$$\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial P^{0}}{\partial x^{0}} + \frac{\partial P^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + \left(\Gamma_{ji}^{j} + \Gamma_{0i}^{0}\right) P^{i}$$
$$= \frac{\partial P^{0}}{\partial x^{0}} + \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}} \mathbf{P}^{\top} + \mathbf{P}^{\top} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \sqrt{-g_{00}}$$

where we have set $\mathbf{P}^{\top} := P^i \partial x^i$.

Setting now, in the coordinate system (x^{μ}) ,

$$\mathbf{T} = \begin{pmatrix} T^{00} & \boldsymbol{a}^{\star} \\ \boldsymbol{a} & \mathbf{t} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\mathbf{a} := T^{0i} \partial_{x^i}$ and $\mathbf{t} := T^{ij} \partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j}$, we have

(C.5)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{0} = \frac{\partial T^{00}}{\partial x^{0}} + \frac{\partial a^{i}}{\partial x^{i}} + (\Gamma^{j}_{ji} + 3\Gamma^{0}_{0i})a^{i}$$
$$= \frac{\partial T^{00}}{\partial x^{0}} + \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}} \mathbf{a} + 3 \mathbf{a} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \sqrt{-g_{00}},$$

and

(C.6)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{i} = \frac{\partial a^{i}}{\partial x^{0}} + \frac{\partial t^{ij}}{\partial x^{j}} + (\Gamma_{kj}^{k} + \Gamma_{0j}^{0})t^{ij} + \Gamma_{jk}^{i}t^{jk} + \Gamma_{00}^{i}T^{00},$$

this last equation being recast more intrinsically as

(C.7)
$$(\operatorname{div}^{g} \mathbf{T})^{\top} = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{a}}{\partial x^{0}} + \operatorname{div}^{g^{3D}} \mathbf{t} + \mathbf{t} \cdot \operatorname{d} \ln \sqrt{-g_{00}} + T^{00} \operatorname{grad}^{g^{3D}} \sqrt{-g_{00}}$$

Remark C.1. In [92] and more recently in [35, Chapter 4], equations (C.1) and (C.2) are expressed in an intrinsic manner using the so-called (3 + 1)-orthogonal decomposition of the divergence operator obtained through the theory of (pseudo-)Riemannian hypersurfaces [32, Chapter 5], and which is similar to the one used in Thick Shell Theory.

APPENDIX D. THREE-DIMENSIONAL RIEMANNIAN METRICS AND MASS DENSITIES

We assume in this Appendix that a time function \hat{t} is given, inducing a spacetime structure on \mathcal{W} and we denote by Ω_t the corresponding spacelike hypersurfaces. **3D** Riemannian metrics on the hypersurfaces Ω_t . Each three-dimensional manifold Ω_t is endowed with two Riemannian metrics. The first one is just the restriction j_t^*g of the fourdimensional Universe metric g and coincides with $j_t^*g^{3D}$ (since g^{3D} is the spatial component of g in its orthogonal decomposition (8.1) relative to \mathbf{N} , the unit normal to Ω_t). The second one is the restriction j_t^*h of the degenerate metric $h = g + \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat}$ (the spatial part of g in its orthogonal decomposition (3.1) relative to \mathbf{U}). Note that, unless Ω_t is orthogonal to \mathbf{U} , these two metrics on Ω_t do not match. However, the following lemma allows to relate their respective Riemannian volume forms $\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*g}$ and $\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*h}$ on Ω_t .

Lemma D.1. We have

(D.1)
$$\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*h} = \gamma \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*g} = j_t^* \left(i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g \right), \quad on \ \Omega_t.$$

where $\gamma = -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g$ is the generalized Lorentz factor.

Proof. We have first

$$\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*h} = \sqrt{\det[(j_t^*g)^{-1}j_t^*h]} \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*g}.$$

Let $\mathbf{x} \in \Omega_t$ and let (\mathbf{e}_i) be an orthonormal basis of $T_{\mathbf{x}}\Omega_t$ for the metric j_t^*g . Then,

 $(\boldsymbol{e}_0 = \mathbf{N}, T_{\mathbf{x}} j_t \cdot \boldsymbol{e}_i)$

is an orthonormal basis of $T_m \mathscr{M}$ for the Lorentzian metric g, and we will denote by U^{μ} , the components of $\mathbf{U}(m)$ in this basis. Now, using (3.1), and the fact that $T_{\mathbf{x}} j_t \cdot \mathbf{e}_0 = 0$, $T_{\mathbf{x}} j_t \cdot \mathbf{e}_i = \mathbf{e}_i$, we get

$$[(j_t^*g)^{-1}]^{ij} = \delta^{ij}, \qquad [j_t^*h]_{ij} = \delta_{ij} + \delta_{ik}U^k\delta_{il}U^l,$$

Hence, we are reduced to calculate the determinant

$$\det[(j_t^*g)^{-1}j_t^*h] = \det(I_3 + UU^*),$$

where

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} U^1 \\ U^2 \\ U^3 \end{pmatrix}$$
, and $U^{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} U^1 & U^2 & U^3 \end{pmatrix}$.

Now the 3×3 matrix UU^* has a double eigenvalue 0 and a single eigenvalue U^*U and thus

$$\det (I_3 + UU^*) = 1 + U^*U = 1 + \sum (U^i)^2 = (U^0)^2,$$

since

$$\|\mathbf{U}\|_{g}^{2} = -(U^{0})^{2} + \sum (U^{i})^{2} = -1.$$

Therefore, we get

$$\sqrt{\det[(j_t^*g)^{-1}j_t^*h]} = \sqrt{(U^0)^2} = -\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g$$

because

 $-\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g = U^0,$

and $\langle \mathbf{U}, \mathbf{N} \rangle_g$ is assumed to be negative. Now, we have

$$\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*g} = j_t^*(i_{\mathbf{N}}\operatorname{vol}_g)_{j_t^*}$$

and thus

$$\operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*h} = \gamma \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*g} = \gamma j_t^*(i_{\mathbf{N}} \operatorname{vol}_g) = j_t^*(i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g)$$

Geometric interpretation of the relativistic mass density ρ . By multiplying (D.1) by the rest mass density ρ_r and using the definition $i_{\mathbf{P}} \operatorname{vol}_g = \rho_r i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g = \Psi^* \mu$, where μ is the mass measure on the body \mathscr{B} , we get the following equalities on Ω_t ,

$$\Psi_t^* \mu = j_t^* \left(\rho_r i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g \right) = \rho_r j_t^* \left(i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g \right) = \rho_r \gamma \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^* g},$$

summarized as

$$\Psi_t^* \mu = \rho_r \gamma \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^* g} = \rho \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^* g}.$$

The function (7.4),

 $\rho := \gamma \rho_r,$

defined on the World tube \mathscr{W} , is interpreted as the *relativistic mass density*, *i.e.*, the mass density measured on Ω_t , relatively to the 3D metric j_t^*g .

3D Riemannian metrics and mass densities on the body \mathscr{B} . If we make the stronger assumption that $\Psi_t: \Omega_t \to \mathscr{B}$ is a diffeomorphism, then, the conformation induces a one-parameter family $\gamma(t)$ of three-dimensional Riemannian metrics on the three-dimensional body \mathscr{B}

(D.2)
$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)^{-1} := \mathbf{H} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) := \mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1}.$$

The metric $\gamma(t)$ is the true analogue of the right Cauchy–Green tensor $\mathbf{C} := \mathbf{F}^* q \mathbf{F}$. Indeed, we have the identification $\gamma \equiv \mathbf{C}$ in Classical Continuum Mechanics when the body \mathscr{B} is identified with a reference configuration Ω_0 [67, 77, 45]. Note however that in the non-relativistic case, the metric γ on \mathscr{B} is the pull-back p^*q of the Euclidean metric q on the space \mathscr{E} by the embedding $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{E}$, whereas in (D.2), it is defined using the conformation and a foliation of the World tube \mathscr{W} . The following result relates $\gamma(t)$ with the degenerate quadratic form h defined by (3.1).

Lemma D.2. On Ω_t , we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi_t^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) &= j_t^* h, \\ \text{where } h = g + \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat} \text{ and } j_t^* h = (Tj_t)^* (h \circ j_t) Tj_t. \\ \text{Proof. We have } \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) &:= \mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1}, \text{ and } h = (T\Psi)^* \mathbf{H}^{-1} T\Psi \text{ by lemma 3.1. Therefore} \\ \Psi_t^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) &= (T\Psi_t)^* (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) \circ \Psi_t) T\Psi_t \\ &= (T\Psi_t)^* (\mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t) T\Psi_t \\ &= (Tj_t)^* (T\Psi)^* (\mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t) T\Psi Tj_t \\ &= (Tj_t)^* (h \circ j_t) Tj_t \\ &= j_t^* h. \end{split}$$

To the three-dimensional Riemannian metric $\gamma(t)$ on \mathscr{B} is associated a three-dimensional volume form $\operatorname{vol}_{\gamma(t)}$. Since the body \mathscr{B} is initially endowed with a mass measure μ and a fixed metric γ_0 (see section 1), mass conservation can then be expressed on the body exactly as in the intrinsic Lagrangian formulation of Classical Continuum Mechanics [45], *i.e.*, as

$$\mu = \rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)} \operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)} = \rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0} \operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0},$$

where $\rho_{\gamma(t)}$ and ρ_{γ_0} are mass densities on \mathscr{B} . In the following lemma, we relate $\rho_{\gamma(t)}$ with the rest mass density ρ_r , defined by (1.4).

Lemma D.3. Let $\rho_{\gamma(t)}$ be the mass density on the body \mathscr{B} defined implicitly by $\mu = \rho_{\gamma(t)} \operatorname{vol}_{\gamma(t)}$. Then, we have,

$$\Psi_t^* \rho_{\gamma(t)} = j_t^* \rho_r.$$

Proof. We have $\Psi^* \mu = \rho_r i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_q$ by (1.1)–(1.3), and hence

$$\Psi_t^*(\rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)} \operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)}) = j_t^* \Psi^*(\rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)} \operatorname{vol}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)}) = j_t^* \Psi^* \mu = j_t^*(\rho_r i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g)$$

We get therefore

$$(\Psi_t^* \rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)}) \operatorname{vol}_{\Psi_t^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)} = (j_t^* \rho_r) j_t^* (i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g)$$

but $j_t^*(i_{\mathbf{U}} \operatorname{vol}_g) = \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^*h}$ by lemma D.1 and $\Psi_t^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) = j_t^*h$ by lemma D.2. We get thus

$$(\Psi_t^* \rho_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)}) \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^* h} = (j_t^* \rho_r) \operatorname{vol}_{j_t^* h},$$

which ends the proof.

APPENDIX E. CHOICE OF A REFERENCE METRIC

Reference metric on the body \mathscr{B} . There are several choices for a *reference metric* on the body \mathscr{B} . One possibility is to endow the body with an arbitrary fixed metric γ_0 (for example $\gamma_0 = q$, the Euclidean metric, in [80, 82]). But when a spacetime and the associated spacelike hypersurfaces Ω_t are introduced, with in particular the choice of a reference configuration Ω_{t_0} , and when the restriction $\Psi_{t_0} = j_{t_0}^* \Psi$ of the matter field to Ω_{t_0} is a diffeomorphism, then two other —mechanistic— possibilities are offered:

(a) either to consider as reference metric on the body \mathscr{B} , the Riemannian metric $\gamma(t = t_0)$ at initial time t_0 ,

$$\gamma_0^a := \gamma(t_0) = (\Psi_{t_0})_* j_{t_0}^* h,$$

where the second equality is due to lemma D.2,

(b) or to endow the body \mathscr{B} with the Riemannian metric

$$\gamma_0^b := (\Psi_{t_0})_* j_{t_0}^* g$$

obtained as the pushforward on the body, of the restriction $j_{t_0}^* g$ of the Universe metric to Ω_{t_0} .

These two reference metrics do not coincide in general. In case (a), the mixed tensor $(\gamma_0^a)^{-1}\gamma(t)$ is equal to the identity at $t = t_0$. In case (b), which mimics what is done in non relativistic three-dimensional Hyperelasticity [77, 45], $(\gamma_0^b)^{-1}\gamma(t_0) = (\gamma_0^b)^{-1}\gamma_0^a \neq id$ in general.

The question of which reference metric is to be prefered is in fact related to the difficult question of the definition of an associated reference stress-free state (at which $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = 0$). This question arise naturally when one choose an explicit expression for the specific internal energy e (such as Money–Rivlin's [61], Hart–Smith's [37], Ogden's [69], Arruda–Boyce's [2] or others [33]). Fortunately for Mechanics, the difference between γ_0^b and γ_0^a is only due to relativistic effects, since by (7.2) the restriction $j_{t_0}^* (\mathbf{U}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{U}^{\flat})$ is in $1/c^2$.

Frozen metric on the World tube \mathscr{W} . As mentioned in section 3, instead of explicitly introducing a reference metric γ_0 on the body, some authors consider a reference degenerate quadratic form h_0 of signature (0, +, +, +) on the World tube [43, 44], with some additional properties, leading them to call it a *frozen metric*. Such a four-dimensional frozen metric is in fact strongly related to a three-dimensional reference metric on the body \mathscr{B} . The following result provides necessary conditions for a given quadratic form h_0 on \mathscr{W} to be the pullback of a fixed Riemannian metric γ_0 on \mathscr{B} by the matter field Ψ .

Lemma E.1 (Kijowski and Magli, 1997). Let h_0 be a field of quadratic forms on the World tube \mathscr{W} . Then, necessary conditions for the existence of a Riemannian metric γ_0 on \mathscr{B} such that $h_0 = \Psi^* \gamma_0$ are

$$h_0 \mathbf{U} = 0, \quad and \quad \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{U}} h_0 = 0.$$

Such a quadratic form is necessarily of signature (0, +, +, +).

Proof. Suppose that $h_0 = \Psi^* \gamma_0$. Since $T \Psi \cdot \mathbf{U} = 0$, we get first that

$$h_0 \mathbf{U} = (T\Psi)^* (\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 \circ \Psi) T\Psi \cdot \mathbf{U} = 0,$$

and that h_0 is of signature (0, +, +, +), since Ψ is assumed to be a submersion on \mathscr{W} . Now, let φ^t be the flow of the vector field **U**. Then, we have

$$\partial_t \left[(\Psi \circ \varphi^t)(m) \right] = T_{\varphi^t(m)} \Psi. \mathbf{U}(\varphi^t(m)) = 0, \qquad \forall t, \quad \forall m \in \mathscr{W},$$

and thus $\Psi \circ \varphi^t = \Psi \circ \varphi^0 = \Psi$. Hence, we get

$$(\varphi^t)^*h_0 = (\varphi^t)^*\Psi^*\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 = (\Psi \circ \varphi^t)^*\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 = \Psi^*\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 = h_0$$

and $L_{\mathbf{U}} h_0 = \left[\partial_t (\varphi^t)^* h_0 \right]_{t=0} = 0.$

APPENDIX F. THREE-DIMENSIONAL STRAINS

When the World tube \mathscr{W} is foliated by spacelike hypersurfaces Ω_t and when the restriction Ψ_t of the matter field to Ω_t is a diffeomorphism, any of the three following 3D symmetric covariant tensor fields

$$\mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t (\mathbb{S}^2 V$$
-vector valued, on Ω_t), $\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)$ (on \mathscr{B}), and $j_t^* h$ (on Ω_t),

leads to equivalent formulations of Relativistic Hyperelasticity models. Indeed, these tensor fields are related to each other by

on
$$\mathscr{B}$$
: $\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) = \mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1} = \Psi_{t*} j_t^* h,$
 $\mathbb{S}^2 V$ -vector valued, on Ω_t : $\mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t = (\Psi_{t*} j_t^* h) \circ \Psi_t = \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) \circ \Psi_t,$
on Ω_t : $j_t^* h = (\Psi_t)^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) = (\Psi_t)^* (\mathbf{H}^{-1} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1}),$

Making use of (3.6), the associated —*in fine* equivalent— definitions of strain tensors are then the following

on
$$\mathscr{B}$$
:

$$\frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) - \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0) = \mathfrak{E} \circ \Psi_t^{-1}, \qquad \frac{1}{2} \log \left(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) \right) = \widehat{\mathfrak{E}} \circ \Psi_t^{-1}, \\
\mathbb{S}^2 V \text{-vector valued, on } \Omega_t: \qquad \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{H}^{-1} - \mathbf{H}_0^{-1} \right) \circ j_t = j_t^* \mathfrak{E}, \qquad -\frac{1}{2} \log \left(\mathbf{H} \mathbf{H}_0^{-1} \right) \circ j_t = j_t^* \widehat{\mathfrak{E}}, \\
\text{on } \Omega_t: \qquad \frac{1}{2} \left(j_t^* h - j_t^* h_0 \right) = j_t^* \mathbf{e}, \qquad \frac{1}{2} \log \left((j_t^* h_0)^{-1} j_t^* h \right),$$

where $h_0 = \Psi^* \gamma_0$ is the so-called frozen metric on the World tube \mathcal{W} , $j_t^* h_0 = \Psi_t^* \gamma_0$ is its restriction to Ω_t , and $\mathbf{H}_0 = \gamma_0^{-1} \circ \Psi$. Note that $t = t_0$ can be set in the above restrictions to obtain definitions on Ω_{t_0} .

Appendix G. Three-dimensional stresses

Given a spacetime structure on the body World tube \mathscr{W} and the corresponding orthogonal decomposition relative to **N**, the normal to the hypersurfaces Ω_t , the generalized Cauchy stress $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$, defined here as the spatial part of the four-dimensional stress $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ (remark 5.3), has for expression (8.10),

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(m) = \rho_r(m) \, (g_m^{3D})^{\sharp} (T_m \Psi)^* \, \mathbf{s}(m) \, (T_m \Psi) (g_m^{3D})^{\sharp}, \qquad m \in \mathscr{W},$$

where $g^{3D} = g + \mathbf{N}^{\flat} \otimes \mathbf{N}^{\flat}$ is the spatial part of g (see (8.1)), and \mathbf{s} is the covariant stress tensor defined by (5.8). Since, by its very definition, $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ has values in $T\Omega_t \otimes T\Omega_t$ because $T\Omega_t = \mathbf{N}^{\perp}$, the mapping

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(j_t(\mathbf{x})) = \rho_r(j_t(\mathbf{x})) \left(g_{j_t(\mathbf{x})}^{3D}\right)^{\sharp} (T_{j_t(\mathbf{x})}\Psi)^* \, \mathbf{s}(j_t(\mathbf{x})) \left(T_{j_t(\mathbf{x})}\Psi\right) (g_{j_t(\mathbf{x})}^{3D}\right)^{\sharp}.$$

is a second-order contravariant tensor field on the three-dimensional manifold Ω_t .

In the particular case of the Schwarzschild spacetime described in section 9, where, q denoting the Euclidean metric,

 $g^{3D} = kq$, and $(g^{3D})^{\sharp} = k^{-1}q^{-1}$,

the three-dimensional stress $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \circ j_t$ is given by

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \circ j_t = \frac{1}{\gamma k^2} \rho \, q^{-1} (T \Psi_t)^* \left(\mathbf{s} \circ j_t \right) (T \Psi_t) q^{-1},$$

with the abuse of notation $(\rho_r/k^2) \circ j_t = \rho_r/k^2 = \rho/\gamma k^2$, and where γ , not to be confused with the metric $\gamma(t)$ on the body \mathscr{B} , is the generalized Lorentz factor (9.6).

Let us now make the stronger assumption that the restriction $\Psi_t = \Psi \circ j_t$ of the matter field to Ω_t is a diffeomorphism, and set $p := \Psi_t^{-1}$ and $\mathbf{F} = Tp = T\Psi_t^{-1}$, by analogy with Classical

Continuum Mechanics (remark 6.1). Then, the stress $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ on Ω_t can be recast as the pullback by Ψ_t

(G.1)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \circ j_t = \frac{1}{\gamma k^2} \rho \, q^{-1} \big(\Psi_t^* \boldsymbol{\theta}^\flat \big) q^{-1} = \frac{1}{\gamma k^2} \rho \, q^{-1} \big(p_* \boldsymbol{\theta}^\flat \big) q^{-1},$$

of a covariant stress tensor θ^{\flat} , defined on \mathscr{B} , and given by

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\flat} := \mathbf{s} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t) \boldsymbol{\theta} \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t), \qquad \boldsymbol{\theta} := 2 \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \frac{\partial w}{\partial \widehat{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}}, \qquad \frac{\partial w}{\partial \widehat{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}} = \frac{\partial w}{\partial \widehat{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)).$$

Indeed, by definition, $\mathbf{H} \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}(t)$ and $\mathbf{H}_0 \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 \circ \Psi \circ j_t \circ \Psi_t^{-1} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0$.

The contravariant stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\theta}$, defined on the body \mathscr{B} , is then recognized as the Rougée stress tensor introduced in [75, 77, 45] (and which coincides with the second Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensor when \mathscr{B} is identified with a reference configuration Ω_0). In that case, the constitutive equation

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} := 2 \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0^{-1} \frac{\partial w}{\partial \widehat{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}} = \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})$$

is the formulation of hyperelasticity on the body \mathscr{B} (see [76, Chapter XII], [77, Application 1] and [45, Theorem 3.4]).

The prefactor $1/\gamma k^2$ in (G.1) combines both gravitational effects (through the conformal factor k) and relativistic effects (through the generalized Lorentz factor γ). The 3D stress tensor on Ω_t

$$\boldsymbol{\tau} \circ j_t := \gamma k^2 \frac{\boldsymbol{\sigma} \circ j_t}{\rho}, \quad \text{such as} \quad \boldsymbol{\tau} \circ j_t = q^{-1} \mathbf{F}^{-\star} \big(\boldsymbol{\theta}^{\flat} \circ \Psi_t \big) \mathbf{F}^{-1} q^{-1},$$

is therefore a second relativistic generalization of the Kirchhoff stress tensor σ/ρ of Classical Continuum Mechanics (see remark 8.1), this time dedicated to the Schwarzschild spacetime. Recall that for the flat Minkowski metric we have k = 1, and that for the Galilean limit, we have $\gamma = 1$.

References

- R. Arnowitt, S. Deser, and C. W. Misner. The dynamics of general relativity. In *Gravitation: An introduction to current research*, pages 227–265. Wiley, New York, 1962.
- [2] E. Arruda and M. Boyce. A three-dimensional constitutive model for the large stretch behavior of rubber elastic materials. J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 41:389–412, 1993.
- [3] G. F. Becker. The finite elastic stress-strain function. American Journal of Science, s3-46(275):337-356, Nov. 1893.
- [4] R. Beig and B. G. Schmidt. Relativistic elasticity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 20(5):889–904, Feb. 2003.
- [5] J.-F. Bennoun. Étude des milieux continus élastiques et thermodynamiques en relativité générale. Annales Institut Henri Poincaré, III(1):41–110, 1965.
- [6] A. Bertram. Elasticity and Plasticity of Large Deformations. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [7] G. Birkhoff and R. Langer. Relativity and Modern Physics. Harvard University Press, 1923.
- [8] D. N. Blaschke, F. Gieres, M. Reboud, and M. Schweda. The energy-momentum tensor(s) in classical gauge theories. *Nuclear Physics B*, 912:192–223, Nov. 2016.
- [9] D. Bleecker. Gauge Theory and Variational Principles, volume 1 of Global Analysis Pure and Applied Series A. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass., 1981.
- [10] J. D. Brown. Elasticity theory in general relativity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 38(8):085017, Mar. 2021.
- [11] E. Cartan. Sur les variétés à connexion affine, et la théorie de la relativité généralisée (première partie). Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 40:325–412, 1923.
- [12] E. Cartan. Sur les variétés à connexion affine, et la théorie de la relativité généralisée (première partie) (Suite). Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 41:1–25, 1924.
- [13] E. Cartan. Sur les variétés à connexion affine, et la théorie de la relativité généralisée (deuxième partie). Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 42:17–88, 1925.
- [14] B. Carter and H. Quintana. Foundations of general relativistic high-pressure elasticity theory. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 331(1584):57–83, Nov. 1972.
- [15] G. Darmois. Les équations de la gravitation einsteinienne, volume 25 of Mémorial des Sciences Mathématiques. Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1927.
- [16] G. Dautcourt. Die Newtonsche Gravitationstheorie als strenger Grenzfall der allgemeinen Relativitäutstheorie. Acta Phys. Polon., 25:637–646, 1964.

- [17] G. de Saxcé. Asymptotic expansion of general relativity with Galilean covariance. General Relativity and Gravitation, 52(9), Sept. 2020.
- [18] N. Deruelle. General Relativity: a primer. Lectures at Institut Henri Poincaré, Paris. Avaiable at http://www.luth.obspm.fr/IHP06/, 2006.
- [19] B. S. Dewitt. The quantization of geometry. In Gravitation: An introduction to current research, pages 266–381. Wiley, New York, 1962.
- [20] W. G. Dixon. On the uniqueness of the Newtonian theory as a geometric theory of gravitation. Comm. Math. Phys., 45(2):167–182, 1975.
- [21] C. Duval, G. Burdet, H. P. Künzle, and M. Perrin. Bargmann structures and Newton-Cartan theory. Phys. Rev. D (3), 31(8):1841–1853, 1985.
- [22] C. Duval and H. P. Künzle. Sur les connexions newtoniennes et l'extension non triviale du groupe de Galilée. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 285(12):A813–A816, 1977.
- [23] D. G. Ebin. On the space of Riemannian metrics. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 74:1001-1003, 1968.
- [24] C. Eckart. The Thermodynamics of Irreversible Processes. III. Relativistic Theory of the Simple Fluid. *Physical Review*, 58(10):919–924, Nov. 1940.
- [25] A. Einstein. Die Feldgleichungen der Gravitation. Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, pages 844–847, 1915.
- [26] A. Einstein. The Meaning of Relativity. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1988. Reprint of the 1956 edition.
- [27] M. Epstein, D. A. Burton, and R. Tucker. Relativistic anelasticity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 23(10):3545–3571, Apr. 2006.
- [28] M. Ferraris, M. Francaviglia, and C. Reina. Variational formulation of general relativity from 1915 to 1925, Palatini's method discovered by Einstein in 1925. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 14(3):243–254, Mar. 1982.
- [29] S. Forest. Mécanique des milieux continus, Volume 1: Théorie. Cours De L'ecole Des Mines. Presses des Mines, 2022.
- [30] Y. Foures-Bruhat. Sur l'intégration des équations d'Einstein. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 226:1071–1073, 1948.
- [31] Y. Fourès-Bruhat. Sur l'intégration des équations de la relativité générale. J. Rational Mech. Anal., 5:951–966, 1956.
- [32] S. Gallot, D. Hulin, and J. Lafontaine. *Riemannian Geometry*. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, third edition, 2004.
- [33] L. Gornet, G. Marckmann, R. Desmorat, and P. Charrier. A new isotropic hyperelastic strain energy function in terms of invariants and its derivation into a pseudo-elastic model for Mullins effect. In *Constitutive Models* for Rubber VII, pages 265–272. CRC Press, Sept. 2011.
- [34] E. Gourgoulhon. An introduction to relativistic hydrodynamics. EAS Publications Series, 21:43–79, 2006.
- [35] E. Gourgoulhon. 3+1 Formalism in General Relativity. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [36] C. Gundlach, I. Hawke, and S. J. Erickson. A conservation law formulation of nonlinear elasticity in general relativity. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 29(1):015005, Dec. 2011.
- [37] L. J. Hart-Smith. Elasticity parameters for finite deformations of rubber-like materials. Zeitschrift f
 ür angewandte Mathematik und Physik ZAMP, 17(5):608–626, Sept. 1966.
- [38] P. Havas. Four-dimensional formulations of Newtonian mechanics and their relation to the special and the general theory of relativity. *Rev. Modern Phys.*, 36:938–965, 1964.
- [39] S. W. Hawking and G. F. R. Ellis. The Large Scale Structure of Space-Time. Cambridge University Press, Oct. 1973.
- [40] H. Hencky. Über die Form des Elastizitätsgesetzes bei ideal elastischen Stoffen. Zeitschrift für technische Physik, 9:215–220, 1928.
- [41] D. Hilbert. Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse. In Göttingen and Mathematisch, pages 395–407, 1915.
- [42] D. Hilbert. Die Grundlagen der Physik. Mathematische Annalen, 92(1-2):1-32, Mar. 1924.
- [43] J. Kijowski and G. Magli. Relativistic elastomechanics as a Lagrangian field theory. Journal of Geometry and Physics, 9(3):207–223, July 1992.
- [44] J. Kijowski and G. Magli. Unconstrained variational principle and canonical structure for relativistic elasticity. *Reports on Mathematical Physics*, 39(1):99–112, Feb. 1997.
- [45] B. Kolev and R. Desmorat. An intrinsic geometric formulation of hyper-elasticity, pressure potential and non-holonomic constraints. *Journal of Elasticity*, 146(1):29–63, Aug. 2021.
- [46] B. Kolev and R. Desmorat. Objective rates as covariant derivatives on the manifold of riemannian metrics. Available at https://arxiv.org/abs/2106.01126, June 2021.
- [47] Y. Kosmann-Schwarzbach. The Noether theorems. Sources and Studies in the History of Mathematics and Physical Sciences. Springer, New York, 2011. Invariance and conservation laws in the twentieth century, Translated, revised and augmented from the 2006 French edition by Bertram E. Schwarzbach.
- [48] H. P. Künzle. Galilei and Lorentz structures on space-time: comparison of the corresponding geometry and physics. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Sect. A (N.S.), 17:337–362, 1972.

- [49] H. P. Künzle. Covariant Newtonian limit of Lorentz space-times. Gen. Relativity Gravitation, 7(5):445–457, 1976.
- [50] L. Lamoureux-Brousse. Infinitesimal deformations of finite conjugacies in non-linear classical or general relativistic theory of elasticity. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 35(1-2):203–219, Apr. 1989.
- [51] J. Lemaitre and J.-L. Chaboche. Mécanique des matériaux solides. Dunod, english translation 1990 'Mechanics of Solid Materials' Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [52] A. Lichnerowicz. Sur certains problèmes globaux relatifs au système des équations d'Einstein. Doctorat d'état, Université de Paris, 1939.
- [53] A. Lichnerowicz. Sur les équations relativistes de la gravitation. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 80:237–251, 1952.
- [54] A. Lichnerowicz. Théories relativistes de la gravitation et de l'électromagnétisme: relativité générale et théories unitaires. Collection d'ouvrages de mathématiques à l'usage des physiciens. Masson, 1955.
- [55] J. E. Marsden and T. J. R. Hughes. *Mathematical Foundations of Elasticity*. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1994. Corrected reprint of the 1983 original.
- [56] R. J. Martin, I. Münch, B. Eidel, and P. Neff. A brief history of logarithmic strain measures in nonlinear elasticity. PAMM, 18(1):e201800366, Dec. 2018.
- [57] G. A. Maugin. On the covariant equations of the relativistic electrodynamics of continua. II. fluids. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 19(5):1206–1211, May 1978.
- [58] G. A. Maugin. On the covariant equations of the relativistic electrodynamics of continua. III. elastic solids. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 19(5):1212–1219, May 1978.
- [59] G. A. Maugin. On the covariant equations of the relativistic electrodynamics of continua. IV. media with spin. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 19(5):1220–1226, May 1978.
- [60] C. W. Misner, K. S. Thorne, and J. A. Wheeler. Gravitation. W. H. Freeman and Company, 1973.
- [61] M. Mooney. A theory of large deformations. J. Appl. Phys., 11:582–592, 1940.
- [62] T. Mueller and F. Grave. Catalogue of spacetimes. Available at https://arxiv.org/abs/0904.4184, 2009.
- [63] R. A. Nahas, M. Wang, B. Panicaud, E. Rouhaud, A. Charles, and R. Kerner. Covariant spacetime formalism for applications to thermo-hyperelasticity. *Acta Mechanica*, 233(6):2309–2334, May 2022.
- [64] E. Noether. Invariante Variationsprobleme. Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, 1918:235–257, 1918.
- [65] W. Noll. A new mathematical theory of simple materials. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 48(1):1–50, Jan. 1972.
- [66] W. Noll. La mécanique classique, basée sur un axiome d'objectivité. In The Foundations of Mechanics and Thermodynamics, pages 135–144. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1974.
- [67] W. Noll. A General Framework for Problems in the Statics of Finite Elasticity. In Contemporary Developments in Continuum Mechanics and Partial Differential Equations, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Continuum Mechanics and Partial Differential Equations, pages 363–387. Elsevier, 1978.
- [68] G. Nordström. De gravitatietheorie van Einstein en de mechanica van Herglotz. Kon. Akad. v. Wetensch. te Amsterdam. Wis- en Nat. kund. Afd., 25:836–843, Nov. 1916.
- [69] R. Ogden. Large deformation isotropic elasticity on the correlation of theory and experiment for incompressible rubberlike solids. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 326(1567):565–584, Feb. 1972.
- [70] J. G. Oldroyd. Equations of state of continuous matter in general relativity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 316(1524):1–28, 1970.
- [71] A. Palatini. Deduzione invariantiva delle equazioni gravitazionali dal principio di Hamilton. Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo, 43(1):203–212, Dec. 1919.
- [72] B. Panicaud and E. Rouhaud. A frame-indifferent model for a thermo-elastic material beyond the threedimensional Eulerian and Lagrangian descriptions. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 26(1):79–93, Feb. 2013.
- [73] B. Panicaud, E. Rouhaud, G. Altmeyer, M. Wang, R. Kerner, A. Roos, and O. Ameline. Consistent hypoelastic behavior using the four-dimensional formalism of differential geometry. *Acta Mechanica*, 227(3):651– 675, Oct. 2015.
- [74] C. B. Rayner. Elasticity in general relativity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A. Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 272(1348):44–53, Feb. 1963.
- [75] P. Rougée. A new Lagrangian intrinsic approach of continuous media in large deformation. Eur. J. Mech. A/Solids, 10:15–39, 1991.
- [76] P. Rougée. Mécanique des grandes transformations, volume 25 of Mathématiques & Applications (Berlin) [Mathematics & Applications]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [77] P. Rougée. An intrinsic Lagrangian statement of constitutive laws in large strain. Computers & Structures, 84(17-18):1125–1133, June 2006.
- [78] K. Schwarzschild. Uber das Gravitationfield eines Massenpuktes nach der Einsteinschen Theorie. Sitzber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin, Kl. Math.-Phys. Tech., pages 189–196, 1916.
- [79] D. E. Soper. Classical Field Theory. Dover Publications, 2008.
- [80] J.-M. Souriau. La relativité variationnelle. Publ. Sci. Univ. Alger. Sér. A, 5:103–170, 1958.

- [81] J.-M. Souriau. Matière parfaite en relativité générale. In Sémin. Mécan. Anal. et Mécan. Céleste, volume 7 of 3^{eme} année. Univ. de Paris, 1960.
- [82] J.-M. Souriau. Géométrie et relativité. Enseignement des Sciences, VI. Hermann, Paris, 1964.
- [83] J.-M. Souriau. Milieux continus de dimension 1, 2 ou 3 : Statique et dynamique. Congré Français de Mécanique, Poitiers, 1997.
- [84] P. Steinmann. Geometrical Foundations of Continuum Mechanics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2015.
- [85] C. Stolz. *Milieux continus en transformations finies : hyperélasticité, rupture, élastoplasticité.* Editions de l'Ecole Polytechnique, 2009.
- [86] J. L. Synge. A theory of elasticity in general relativity. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 72(1):82–87, Dec. 1959.
- [87] A. H. Taub. General relativistic variational principle for perfect fluids. Physical Review, 94(6):1468–1470, June 1954.
- [88] R. A. Toupin. World invariant kinematics. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 1:181–211, 1958.
- [89] C. Truesdell and W. Noll. The Non-Linear Field Theories of Mechanics. Handbuch f
 ür Physik III/3. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1965.
- [90] M. Wernig-Pichler. Relativistic elastodynamics. Available at https://arxiv.org/abs/gr-qc/0605025, 2006.
- [91] H. Weyl. Zur Gravitationstheorie. Annalen der Physik, 359(18):117–145, 1917.
- [92] J. W. York, Jr. Kinematics and dynamics of general relativity. In L. Smarr, editor, Sources of gravitational radiation, pages 83–126, Cambridge, 1979. Cambridge University Press.

(Boris Kolev) UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-SACLAY, ENS PARIS-SACLAY, CENTRALESUPÉLEC, CNRS, LMPS - LABO-RATOIRE DE MÉCANIQUE PARIS-SACLAY, 91190, GIF-SUR-YVETTE, FRANCE *Email address*: boris.kolev@ens-paris-saclay.fr

(Rodrigue Desmorat) Université Paris-Saclay, ENS Paris-Saclay, CentraleSupélec, CNRS, LMPS - LABORATOIRE DE MÉCANIQUE PARIS-Saclay, 91190, GIF-sur-Yvette, France

Email address: rodrigue.desmorat@ens-paris-saclay.fr